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Five-year Financial Summary

IFMBRE

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”)
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements and restated/

reclassified as appropriate, is set out below:

HETENEEZYBRABRAREEE
3,/ EFDBORFERERRR ([RRF])
REMB AR (G AEE ) RNBEDER
BEENEE  BE  AERIFERESOR
ZHFIT

RESULTS E S5
Year ended 31 December
BEt-R=t-HLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—B-mE  -F--F -“E--f B ZZCEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TET TET TAT
(Restated)
(& =5)
. ________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________|]
REVENUE & 257,749 264,037 245,612 279,371 290,590
Gross profit ES ] 76,999 81,429 72,729 82,351 83,256
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX  B#iAi (&18) /%7 (392) (4,366) (5,267) 19,911 32,538
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH (A% KR (3,186) 770 1,622 (3,171) (5,352)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR % (&548) /%7 (3,578) (3,596) (3,645) 16,740 27,186
Attributable to owners SNGE DN
of the parent (3,464) (3,263) (3,229) 16,982 27,186

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING ¥&E - a@RIFERERS

INTERESTS

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-H

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-mE —E-=E —ECoCF —E--F e el 33
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FAEL FAT FAT TAL

(Restated)

(fgE5)

L' ___________________________________________|

Total assets LAE 398,658 408,814 419,818 432,486 405,506
Total liabilities maRE (71,105) (66,569) (67,337) (67,311) (54,223)
Non-controlling interests R ER - 87 (246) (658) -
327,553 342,332 352,235 364,517 351,283
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NEEF(H)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suites 603-604, 6/F.

Chinachem Leighton Plaza

No. 29 Leighton Road

Causeway Bay

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
2885

COMPANY’'S WEBSITE

WwWw.peiport.com

PEIPORTHOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2024

FEAERRIT
BELSELRITAERAA
BRI () BRAA
o TR IRITAIA B R R )

HMERERTEERXME

B

FETEE 2955
ERMEEES
612 603-604 =

A ERE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

FEHEESBTAENBFRER

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

BERODBFERE
BERFBLERAA
BB

Bl

REB338

B 5 E5 21
331£3301-04 %

AL AR
2885

ACEEN

www.peiport.com



Chairman’s Statement

EFLEE

Dear valuable shareholders,

2024 was a milestone year for Peiport Holdings Ltd., marking
the sixth anniversary of the Group's listing and achieving
key breakthrough in our business transformation driven by
“Intelligence and Globalisation”. Despite a slowdown in
the global economic recovery, we achieved stable revenue
throughout the year. The general aviation products and
services business segment continues to lead the way, while
self-stabilised imaging products and optoelectronics products
achieved revenue growth through the empowerment of
artificial intelligence (“Al"), demonstrating the catalytic
effect of technological innovations on profitability.

HEHMBR

—ERNFHRFIERARARAEREREEE
& — BDOREE EHABEEF - TREERM
ATBEEREHC] Eo|ERHEFEL N
BRI - BE DB EFRSDEBE - RAUD
ER2FFRWE - EPBBmMEE®R MRS
EBREFFERE - MAERERGERMALE
EmmmATER(AL [ ATEEE]) AL
BERWaIER - RERMEHE BHEENEE
1L e -
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

TREEE (E)

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)"”), | hereby present the business review of the
results for 2024 and formulate the work plan and business
outlook for 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2024: DEEPENED
TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT AND REGIONAL
BREAKTHROUGHS

The Group’s three major business segments consist of (i)
thermal imaging products and services, (ii) self-stabilised
imaging products and services; and (iii) general aviation
products and services. The general aviation products and
services business segment continued to be the Group’s
leading segment in sales during the year. Benefiting from
the promotion of low altitude economy in the Mainland
China and the increase in the demand of the domestic
general aviation sector for airplanes and aircrafts for
industrial, agricultural, logistics and flight school applications,
together with our successful participation in the China
International Aviation & Aerospace Exhibition held in Zhuhai
City in November 2024, we continued to achieve remarkable
results in the sale of products and services in this business
segment.

At the same time, our sale of general aviation products and
services continued to develop in East and Southeast Asia,
including Japan, Korea, Indonesia, the Philippines, Vietnam
and Thailand. To further expand into the East and Southeast
Asian markets, during the year, the Group initiated a
globalisation layout, targeting to establish a presence in the
Southeast Asian hub by setting up a new subsidiary in Kuala
Lumpur, Malaysia in January 2025 to expand our business in
the East and Southeast Asian region.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETREEE(E)

The Group has always placed much emphasis on team
building. During the year, we enhanced the training and
development of our research and development (“R&D")
team through recruiting R&D talents to join the Group
as well as providing Al training for our R&D staff in order
to institutionalize the trainings gradually. Furthermore,
the Group adjusted the structure of its domestic offices
and recruited management personnel for the long-term
development of the Group.

In addition, on 8 July 2024, the Group distributed 2023 final
and special dividends to reward our shareholders for their
support to the Group.

BUSINESS PROSPECT FOR 2025: EMBARKING
ON NEW JOURNEY WISELY AND GROWING
WITH RESILIENCE

In the midst of the fluctuations of global economic cycle, we
have chosen to navigate through the fog with technological
innovation. Through a dynamic balance of technological
depth and market sensitivity, Peiport is building a resilient
growth model that can withstand cycles, integrating
development philosophy into business characteristics and
strengthening brand effects.

Looking ahead to 2025, despite the ever-changing global
economic and political conditions, we remain confident in
the focus on our goals. We are committed to implement the
followings in accordance with our designated directions and
plans:

(1)  Continue to recruit talents to expand the teams of
research and development and domestic and Southeast
Asian marketing personnel;

AEE-EREERERER - N FEHFI
S8 T AT EBMAYIEHIMZEZR T - BR T RIEMN
BATMAREKE - FRiiEABRMAIE
Al - EIEIIE S TEARBIEAC o o - REE TR
ABBARREEARE  REEEAL - AU
EeasBRERR -

SEAN - AR RS ARENTE - ARER
“EMFEELANRRE_F_=_FOHRYR
Rl R -

“ECRAFEEBRE ERFRE F
HER

EERREEBIKE T - BIPEEARMT A
FHUAE - KFEEIEEBRMMARE RT5
HERE MBI TE - BEFUWARNYIER
BE - AEBRERMERED - BomE R
fiE o

RE_Z_FF AMERREQE BOARSE®
AR BADAREREL - BERMANEE
BEAE TR RETE] - MUF AT TE

(1) HBEREBAS  BREXFERMAR
KBEIRFMREEZHABNEE
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FREEE (EF)

(2)

Continue to research and develop our own technology,
especially products with the utilisation of Al technology,
and fully promote our successfully developed products
through our existing sales network and maintenance
centre in Greater China, East Asia and Southeast Asia;

Actively participate in domestic, local and overseas
exhibitions to promote our products and solutions.
We will participate in the AERO Asia in Zhuhai
City in November 2025 to promote our brand and
development philosophy, and introduce to the public
our products and solutions, especially general aviation
products, optoelectronic products and self-stabilised
imaging products.

In addition, in recent years, the Chinese government
has been vigorously developing the low altitude
economy, with key markets in logistics, industrial
and agricultural operations, air taxis, aerial travel and
tourism, atmospheric monitoring, forest fire monitoring,
disaster rescue and flight schools. In order to meet the
needs of the above markets, there will be an increase
in the number of general aviation aircraft and related
products in Mainland China. We will continue to invest
heavily in the general aviation and self-stabilised
imaging products and services business segments,
expecting significant revenue growth in such segments
in 2025; and

Through our newly established subsidiary in Malaysia,
actively explore the East Asian and Southeast Asian
markets to provide general aviation products and
services to the neighboring countries. The subsidiary
will be responsible for the sales and logistics
management in the local area and across East Asia
and Southeast Asia to respond more effectively to
the market demand of such countries. Additionally,
we expect to further cooperate with partners in such
countries to establish local maintenance centres,
training centres, offices or branch offices.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

ETREEE(E)

APPRECIATION

Time flies and the Year of the Snake is here in the blink of
an eye. It is time for out with the old, in with the new. On
behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to all the staff members of Peiport for their hard
work and dedication in 2024. | would like to express my
gratitude to your contributions as well as your support
and care to the Group despite a challenging business
environment. | would also like to express the Board's
gratitude to your family for the support to the Group in all
aspects.

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to our
shareholders for their continuous support, love, care and
tolerance to the Group. At the same time, we would also like
to thank our customers as well as domestic and international
business partners for their support and assistance. Thank
you very much!

Our journey may be long and challenging, but perseverance
leads to a promising future. In 2025, the Group will
continue to work hard and move forward to strive for better
operational results.

Wishing everyone a happy and healthy 2025 filled with joy
and fortune!

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWmEIN

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of thermal
imaging products and services, self-stabilised imaging
products and services, and general aviation products and
services in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

The Hong Kong economy posted moderate growth in
2024. Hong Kong's Gross Domestic Product (the “"GDP")
in 2024 grew by 2.5% on a year-to-year basis. For Mainland
China, the GDP in 2024 grew by 5.0% on a year-to-year
basis. Nevertheless, economy downside risks remain. In
2024, global economy had continued to navigate a complex
landscape, balancing recovery with persistent challenges
including high interest rates and geopolitical uncertainties.
Under the highly volatile and uncertain economic conditions,
our Group business have faced different challenges and
pressure on product pricing.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a decrease in revenue of approximately HK$6.3
million to approximately HK$257.7 million and incurred loss
attributable to owners of the parent of approximately HK$3.5
million.

PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT

A summary of revenue from different business segments of
the Group is set out below:

(1) Thermal imaging products and provision of
services

Our products and services in this business segment
can broadly be divided into three categories: (i) products
under our own brand name, PTi; (ii) products of other
brands; and (iii) thermal imaging inspection services.
Our products are widely used in general consumption,
commercial and industrial fields.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue
from this business segment reduced by approximately
2.6%. It is mainly due to the decrease in revenue from
rendering of maintenance services.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT
(Continued)

(1) Thermal imaging products and provision of

(2)

services (Continued)

Revenue from this business segment during the
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately
HK$69.9 million (2023: HK$71.8 million). It accounted
for approximately 27.1% (2023: 27.2%) of the Group’s
revenue during the year.

Self-stabilised imaging products and provision
of services

The products in this business segment are designed
to be mounted on moving platforms such as aircraft,
helicopters, vessels and ships. The Group deploys
a self-stabilisation technology whereby the imaging
products are mounted on a multiple-axis gimbaled
structure and achieve maximum stabilisation. The
products are traded under own brand name, SkyEye,
SeaVision and PGs. We also rent our self-stabilised
imaging products for aircraft to our customers for a
fixed period at a rental fee as well as provide product
training and technical assistance to our customers
based on their requirements.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue
from this business segment increased significantly
by approximately HK$12.4 million on a year-to-year
basis. It is mainly due to the increase in rendering of
maintenance services. The revenue from this business
segment during the year ended 31 December 2024
was approximately HK$56.4 million (2023: HK$44.0
million). It accounted for approximately 21.9% (2023:
16.7%) of the Group’s revenue during the year.

EBRMARER (F)

(1)

(2)

BRBEmREHRE ()

HE_ZTZ-_MNME+_-_A=+—HBIF
[E REZEBRBAOKELA69.98
EET(ZE-_=ZF:7188851L)"
HAEBRAFERZLN271% (=ZF
T=FE 1 272%) 0

BRERGEmREHRE

REBRENERESEARELENBEHTE
B (Flmmg - A% WMES) LM%
e AEBERBABERM - BREE
MESEZWAHAEE L WEBEKX
REMNEBEME -ERIUKMEE RE
(SkyEye ~ SeaVision X PGs) %2 5 °
NekE AL ARSREBERGE
MYEFREBHEEER  URERBRE
PESk - mERHEEMEII REMZE -

HE—_Z-_MF+_A=+—HILHF
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EBREEMN - B2 _NF+ = A
=+—RHLEFE  REZEBRIEHOU
A A6ABBERBIL(ZT=F : 44.0
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PERFORMANCE OF BUSINESS SEGMENT
(Continued)

(3) General aviation products and provision of

services

The services and products in this business segment can
be broadly divided into three categories, namely (i) light
and ultra-light aircraft engines and related components
distribution; (i) maintenance training course; and (iii)
maintenance and support services. Our maintenance
training courses and maintenance and support services
are mainly carried out in our maintenance centre with a
gross floor area of approximately 1,200 square metres
which is located in Zhuhai City, Guangdong Province.
Our customers in this business segment include light
and ultra-light aircraft manufacturers, flight schools,
flying entertainment clubs, light aircraft research
institutions and private flight owners.

From January to November 2024, the total general
aviation flight time in Mainland China was 1.23 million
hours, which achieved an average annual growth rate of
approximately 12% in the past three years. According
to the China’s Low-altitude Economic Development
Research Report (2024) released by China Center
for Information Industry Development, low-altitude
economy in Mainland China reached RMB506.0 billion
and is expected to reach RMB1,064.5 billion by 2026.
In December 2024, the National Development and
Reform Commission set up the Department of Low-
altitude Economic Development for formulating and
implementing low-altitude economic development
strategies and medium- and long-term development
plans. The Group recognises the significant potential
in this business segment and expects it would boost
the Group's long-term business performance. The
Group will continue to focus on the development of the
general aviation value chain in the Mainland China.

Revenue from this business segment during the year
ended 31 December 2024 decreased by approximately
12.1% on a year-to-year basis. It was mainly
attributable to the decrease in sale of general aviation
products. Revenue from this business segment was
approximately HK$128.9 million (2023: HK$146.6
million). It accounted for approximately 50.0% (2023:
55.5%) of the Group's revenue during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEREN W& (F)

PROSPECT

Looking ahead, geopolitical tensions are intensifying, and
trade conflicts are escalating further. The global economy
will face heightened uncertainties, including the economic
policies of the new term of the United States administration
to Mainland China and Hong Kong. Exports of goods are
expected to be adversely affected by the United States
trade protection measures, which could lead to significant
disruptions in global trade and economic stability.

These uncertainties are compounded by other global factors,
such as geopolitical tensions and trade restrictions, which
are likely to create volatility in financial markets and affect
global trade. The International Monetary Fund projected the
global growth to be at 3.3% in 2025, below the historical
average of 3.7%.

Nonetheless, our Group remains dedicated to leveraging
our extensive expertise to maintain and enhance our
relationships with business partners in both Hong Kong
and Mainland China. In January 2025, we took a significant
step by establishing a new subsidiary in Malaysia aiming to
expand our presence in East Asian and South East Asian
markets.

In the meantime, the Group would remain alert to adapt to
the changing dynamics in the market trend and development
that may impact the demand of our products. We would
continue to navigate the ever-evolving market landscape and
drive sustainable success ahead.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group was derived from business
consisting of: (i) thermal imaging products and services;
(i) self-stabilised imaging products and services; and (iii)
general aviation products and services. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the total revenue of the Group slightly
decreased by approximately HK$6.3 million, or 2.4% from
approximately HK$264.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2023 to approximately HK$257.7 million. The
decrease was primarily attributable to the following reasons:

(i)

(ii)

Thermal imaging products and services

Revenue derived from thermal imaging products and
services decreased slightly by approximately HK$1.9
million, or 2.6%, from approximately HK$71.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$69.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease
in rendering of maintenance services of approximately
HK$2.0 million.

Self-stabilised imaging products and services

Revenue derived from self-stabilised imaging products
and services increased by approximately HK$12.4
million, or 28.2%, from approximately HK$44.0 million
for the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$56.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2024.
The increase was primarily attributable to an increase
in rendering of maintenance services of approximately
HK$15.6 million and increase in sale of self-stabilised
imaging product for vessels and self-stabilised imaging
parts of approximately HK$12.3 million and was partially
offset by decrease in sale of self-stabilised imaging
product for aircraft of approximately HK$15.5 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

(iii) General aviation products and services

Revenue derived from general aviation products and
services decreased by approximately HK$17.7 million,
or 12.1%, from approximately HK$146.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 to approximately
HK$128.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to a
decrease in sale of light and ultra-light aircraft engine
and engine parts from our existing customers due to
decrease in demand of the relevant products.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit for the Group decreased from approximately
HK$81.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$76.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2024, and the gross profit margin decreased by
approximately 1.0% from approximately 30.8% for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to approximately 29.8% for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

(i)

Gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services

The gross profit margin of thermal imaging products
and services decreased by approximately 4.5% from
approximately 25.5% for the year ended 31 December
2023 to approximately 21.0% for the year ended 31
December 2024. The decrease in our gross profit
margin was primarily attributable to the decrease
in rendering of maintenance services, which had a
relatively higher gross profit margin.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

TEENWE D (E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin (Continued)
(ii) Gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services

The gross profit margin of self-stabilised imaging
products and services remained relatively stable at
approximately 43.2% and 42.9% for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively.
(iii) Gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services

The gross profit margin of general aviation products
and services remained relatively stable at approximately
29.7% and 29.0% for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024, respectively.

Other Income and Gains, Net

The Group's other income and gains increased by
approximately HK$3.3 million, or 67.3%, from approximately
HK$4.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$8.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to
an increase in bank interest income arising from increase in
investment of time deposits during the year.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by
approximately HK$1.9 million, or 5.7%, from approximately
HK$33.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2023
to approximately HK$35.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2024. The increase was mainly attributable to an
increase in staff costs of our sales and marketing personnel
resulting from the increase in sales commission during the
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEREN W& (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses remained relatively
stable at approximately HK$38.5 million and HK$38.0
million for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
respectively.

Other Expenses

The Group's other expenses remained relatively stable at
approximately HK$5.6 million and HK$5.1 million for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs remained relatively stable at
approximately HK$0.6 million and HK$0.6 million for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Income Tax (Expense)/Credit

Our income tax (expense)/credit represented our total
current income tax and deferred tax credit/(expense) under
the relevant People’s Republic of China and Hong Kong
income tax laws and regulations. The Group recorded an
income tax expense of approximately HK$3.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as compared to an income
tax credit of approximately HK$0.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2023.

Bt 75 1ol e (4%)
TERAX

AEEMTRASZGFHAYET #2222
TEFRE_NFF+_A=+—HIFES
B4 5385 EHEBITNIB0OBEEBTT °

Htpi

AEBMEMASHFEEEBE  B#E_Z
=N -E_NF+-_A=1+—HBILFES
A A6 BEEBITAE1IBEBIT

BAIE R A

AEBMYPEKAHEFZELEEBE BHE-Z
=N -ENF+_A=1+—HBILFES
R A0 EBEBTROBEEBIT

Frig®i (BAx), %

PrSH (Fs) A HERBARBHEAR LN
B e BB P SHUE KR DI E R AV S 5 &
EREIRERE R,/ (FIX) RBE-ZT -
FT_A=Z+—HLFE AKEEEHAF
BRAXA32A888T MRNBE-FT_=F
T ZA=1T—BILFEREEMEHEL40.8
BEBT -

HEERERAT /2024 F3k

17



18

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEEN W& (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Parent

As a result of the cumulative effect of the above factors, the
Group’s loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
parent remained relatively stable at approximately HK$3.3
million and HK$3.5 million for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024, respectively.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group maintained a healthy liquidity
position, with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources. As at 31 December 2024, the Group reported
net current assets of approximately HK$306.5 million, as
compared with approximately HK$320.6 million as at 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents was approximately HK$252.5 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$9.2 million
as compared to approximately HK$243.3 million as at 31
December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the net cash
generated from operating activities was approximately
HK$30.0 million (2023: HK$14.7 million). The cash generated
from operating activities was mainly from the decrease
in trade and bills receivables and interest received from
bank deposits during the year ended 31 December 2024.
The net cash from investing activities was approximately
HK$53.4 million (2023: net cash used in investing activities
was approximately HK$16.6 million). The net cash used in
financing activities was approximately HK$17.6 million (2023:
HK$12.6 million). The net cash from investing activities
was mainly attributable to the mature of investment of time
deposits during the year. The net cash used in financing
activities was mainly arising from the payment of lease
liabilities and the payment of final and special dividends.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEREN W& (F)

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 December 2023: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no significant
capital commitments (31 December 2023: Nil).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Functional currency of the Group's operating subsidiaries
is either Hong Kong dollar or Renminbi, while some of
the Group’s business transactions and cost of sales are
denominated in United States dollar and Euro.

The Group has transactional currency exposures and
such exposures arise from sales or purchases made by
subsidiaries in currencies other than the subsidiaries’
functional currencies. The Group’s foreign currency exposure
also comprises assets and liabilities denominated in United
States dollar. The Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any
assets (31 December 2023: Nil).

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2024, since we did not have any bank
borrowings, gearing ratio was not applicable to our Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEEEN W& (F)

USE OF PROCEEDS

The final offer price for the listing of the Company’s shares
(the “Listing”) was HK$1.25 per share, and the actual net
proceeds from the Listing were approximately HK$81.2
million (after deduction of the listing expenses).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
18 October 2022 (the “Announcement”), the ongoing 2019
Coronavirus Disease pandemic, which had led to travel
restrictions and/or quarantine requirements, has made it
more difficult for the Company’s management to locate
suitable premise and develop the research and development
centre in the Mainland China in 2022. The Board considers
it is appropriate to reallocate the unutilised net proceeds
initially intended for the establishment of research and
development centre in the Mainland China to other imminent
needs of the Group. For further details, please refer to the
Announcement.

As at the date of this annual report (the “Annual Report”),
the net proceeds from the Listing were utilised as follows:

FREFIEAR

AREED Em ([ EW]) RKREEEAEER
1267870 » MEBER EMATGBHRIBEFRELNA81.2
BEB T (&M EmAX) -

HOMAAFRBRAE—ST-_—F+A+N\BZ
NE(ZAEDFEE  BAR2019THKEE
BRIEHE  ERHTRA N SR EK
FEARNREEER S -_—FFHTERRER
AERNBGTERAETL -EFERE B
[RIRER AR IR LR KRB ATSFUR
FREET IR EAEEEMANEEES BN
% BEHIBHBAMZAS -

RAFEREHZRE ((FERS]) BH - LHAEHR
HFENERBRIDT

Original
allocation of
net proceeds Amount Amount
according to Revised utilised asat  unutilised as at
the prospectus allocation of  the date of this  the date of this
of the Company the proceeds ~ Annual Report ~ Annual Report
REXDFH
RRER
FERERE FERE REEERE REEERE
FRORE BBIIEE REEEALE REXERSE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TR ThR TERL
Establish new research and development 78I R &R TR RS 39,600 19,600 (19,600) -
centres in the Mainland China and
Hong Kong
Enhance the recognition and RERBERNIDE RER 17,300 27,300 (27,300) -
qualification of our products
Strengthen our sales capacity and ZEBET N LIPETBERS 21,100 31,100 (31,100 -
capture new sales opportunities
Purchase new information technology ~ BE#HEARBE M R 2,500 2,500 (2,500) -
hardware and software
Working capital HEAE 700 700 (700) -
81,200 81,200 (81,200) -
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

BEREN W& (F)

RESTRUCTURING AND SIGNIFICANT
INVESTMENTS

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024,
the Group did not have any restructuring and significant
investments.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group had a total of 142 (31 December 2023: 154)
employees as at 31 December 2024. Total staff costs of the
Group (excluding the Directors’ and chief executive officer’'s
remuneration) for the year ended 31 December 2024 was
approximately HK$54.0 million (2023: HK$49.5 million). The
Group's remuneration policies were in line with relevant
legislation, market conditions and the performance of our
employees.

DIVIDENDS

Having considered the financial and cash flow position of
the Company, as well as to reward the shareholders of the
Company for their continued support during the challenging
economic environment and enhance investors’ confidence
in the Company, the Board recommended the payment of a
final dividend of HK1.35 cents per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 (the “Proposed Final Dividend”) and a
special dividend of HK2.70 cents per share (the "“Proposed
Special Dividend"”). Together with the final dividend of
HK1.35 cents per share, the total dividends will amount to
HK4.05 cents per share.

The Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special
Dividend shall be declared and distributed in Hong Kong
dollars and will be subject to the shareholders’ approval
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM")
to be held on Thursday, 12 June 2025. It is expected that
the Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special
Dividend will be paid on or before Tuesday, 8 July 2025 to
shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Wednesday, 25
June 2025.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEENRRE D (&)

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(A) for determining the entitlement to attend and

(B)

vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Thursday, 5 June 2025 to Thursday, 12
June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfers of shares shall be effected. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM to be held
on Thursday, 12 June 2025, all transfers of shares,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms, must be lodged for registration with
the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company,
Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,
Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m. on
Wednesday, 4 June 2025.

for determining the entitlement to the
Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed
Special Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 23 June 2025 to Wednesday, 25
June 2025, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.
In order to be eligible to receive the Proposed Final
Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms, must be lodged for
registration with the Hong Kong share registrar of the
Company, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's
Road, North Point, Hong Kong no later than 4:00 p.m.
on Friday, 20 June 2025.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEREREERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (# &%), aged 76, is the founder of
our Group. Mr. Yeung is the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director
on 19 December 2017. He is in charge of the strategic
direction and development strategy of our Group. Mr. Yeung
is also a director of a number of our subsidiaries and the
member of the Company’s remuneration committee.

Mr. Yeung has over 26 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. He obtained
his bachelor’'s degree in aeronautical engineering from
Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (B R fiZe
X ARE2) (formerly known as Nanjing College of Aeronautics
(FFMMZEP7)) in June 1982. Mr. Yeung started his career
in the industry working as a designer of aircraft machinery at
the Aviation Department Aircraft Design Institute* (FF Efiit
=T L NRFEN——FLFT, also known as PUJIIA(ERG11
Ffr) from February 1982 to May 1985 where he was mainly
responsible for design of aircraft machinery. He joined
Schmidt & Co., (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company focusing on
system integration, in May 1986 and was promoted to the
role of product manager in January 1993 responsible for
business development. He then founded our Group in April
1998 and has served as managing director of our Group
since then.

Mr. Yeung served as the general manager (B15IE =)
of Infrared Analysis Society of China* (FfBlAT 4N T2
) in 1989. In 2004, he was appointed as the Economic
Development Consultant of Meijiang District, Meizhou*
(M T2 LB 2B EERM) by the Meizhou Meijian
Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’s Government* (4
HigMNmEIRZEGB/MNTEIEARKN). He was
awarded the title of the 20th Anniversary of Meijiang District
Outstanding Contributor* (/T [RZE205BF = ERE) by
the Meizhou Meijian Committee Meizhou Meijiang People’s
Government* (FHEMNMEIEZESHMNMEIREAR
BAT) in 2008. Besides, Mr. Yeung was appointed as the
Honorary Vice-chairman of Fifth Executive Committee of
Guangzhou Land, Marine and Aero Modelling Association*
(BMNmEEERIESHHEFAEREEREREF) in
2011.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEE (&)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yeung has obtained various qualifications, including (i)
the Service and Maintenance Course for Ultralight Aircraft
Engines ROTAX 582-618-912 Diploma from ROTAX in
March 1993; (ii) the Thermovision 500 Operator Training
Course awarded by Agema Infrared Systems in October
1997; (iii) The American Society for Nondestructive Testing
Level Il Certificate Program in October 1999; and (iv) the
Thermal Imaging Fundamentals Certificate awarded by FLIR
Infrared Training Centre in June 2007. Mr. Yeung further
completed the Advanced CEO Program* ({®#42%(CEO)&
FAHMEHL) at Tsinghua University in May 2010.

Mr. Yeung is the spouse of Ms. WONG Kwan Lik and the
father of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (E£#f1), aged 68, is the chief executive
officer and an executive Director. Ms. Wong was appointed
as a Director on 19 December 2017. She joined our Group
in April 1998 and has since then taken an active part in
the sales and operation of our Group. Ms. Wong is also a
director of a number of our subsidiaries and the member of
the Company's nomination committee.

Ms. Wong has over 26 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From February
1982 to May 1986, Ms. Wong worked on aviation machinery
research at the Aviation Department Aircraft Design
Institute* (R EIfiTZE T 4B A RS ——H5LFT, also known
as PUJIIAX#&BG11F7). Ms. Wong has been serving as the sales
manager of Peiport Scientific Limited (“Peiport Scientific”)
and Peiport Scientific Aero Limited (“Peiport Aero”) from
April 1998 to June 2018 and from July 2018 to March 2019,
respectively. Since 1 April 2019, she has been promoted
to the managing director of Peiport Aero and is responsible
for planning and coordination of sales and operations of our
Group.

Ms. Wong obtained a bachelor’'s degree in aeronautical
engineering from Nanjing University of Aeronautics and
Astronautics (R RATZEMAARE) (formerly known as Nanjing
College of Aeronautics (F8 =M ZEEF7)) in June 1982.

Ms. Wong is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and the
mother of Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGHAEEE ()

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai (#%#&28), aged 37, is an executive
Director. Mr. Yeung was appointed as a Director on 22
August 2018. Mr. Yeung joined our Group in February
2016 and has since then taken part in the management of
operation and supplier relationship of our Group.

Mr. Yeung has over 8 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From
April 2013 till February 2014, Mr. Yeung worked as an
associate in the ICT hardware department under the Bell
Professional Management Program of Bell Canada, and
was responsible for building and maintaining the office’s
computers and facilities. He was promoted to the position
of technical analyst in October 2013 and was responsible for
managing the daily work of the ICT hardware department.
From August 2014 to March 2015, Mr. Yeung joined Bell
Business Market of Bell Canada and worked as a technical
analyst, responsible for building, testing and deploying
Cisco telephone scripts for customers. Mr. Yeung has been
working as the marketing manager of Peiport Scientific and
Peiport Aero from February 2016 to June 2018 and from
July 2018 to March 2019, respectively. Since 1 April 2019,
he has been promoted to the business development director
of Peiport Aero and is mainly responsible for managing the
daily operations of our Group.

Mr. Yeung obtained a bachelor’'s degree in engineering
from McMaster University in Canada in June 2010, majoring
in computer engineering. He further obtained a master's
degree in engineering from McMaster University in June
2013, majoring in electrical and computer engineering.

Mr. Yeung is the son of Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching and Ms.
WONG Kwan Lik.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEE (&)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie (4#&&), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He is responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Niu is also the chairman of the
Company’s nomination committee and the member of the
audit committee and remuneration committee.

Mr. Niu has worked with various financial institutions and
has extensive experience in equity capital markets. He
served as a director of Vision Finance Asset Management
Limited from February 2008 to January 2015. He has been
the director of Vision Finance International Company Limited
since September 2007 to present, and has also been the
responsible officer of the company to carry on type 1 (dealing
in securities) and type 6 (advising on corporate finance)
regulated activities since November 2007. Furthermore,
he has been the responsible officer for type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities of Vision Finance Asset Management Limited since
December 2008 and July 2010, respectively.

He has served as an independent non-executive director
of Nanjing Sample Technology Company Ltd. (stock code:
1708) from 27 May 2019 to 31 May 2024. He also served
as an independent non-executive director of New Media
Lab Limited (stock code: 1284) and Starlight Culture
Entertainment Group Limited (stock code: 1159) since 26
June 2023 and 15 September 2023, respectively. Since 21
June 2024, he has served as an independent non-executive
director of Ruicheng (China) Media Group Limited (stock
code: 1640).

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen (5 #3K), aged 49, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 18 December
2018. She is responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgment to our Board. Ms. Yeung is also the
chairwoman of the Company’s audit committee and the
member of the nomination committee.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGHAEEE ()

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Yeung has over 23 years of experience in finance and
accounting. Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Yeung worked
in various companies being responsible in the finance and
accounting aspects, among which she served as (i) a staff
accountant in the audit department of Ernst & Young in
Hong Kong from September 1997 to March 1999; (ii) an
accounting officer of China Overseas Land & Investment Ltd
from September 1999 to 2002; (iii) an accountant of Bruker
Optics Inc. from January 2006 to February 2007; (iv) the
accounting manager and financial controller of PCC Asia LCC
since April 2007 to June 2019 and from July 2019 to March
2020, respectively; and (v) the wealth management manager
of AIA Company Limited since September 2020.

Ms. Yeung was awarded the Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree
in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in 1997. Ms. Yeung was admitted in January 2007 as a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). She is currently a certified public
accountant registered with the HKICPA. She has been a
member of Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since May 2006.

Mr. HOU Min ({%3&), aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 18 December 2018.
He responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgment to our Board. Mr. Hou is also the chairman of the
Company's remuneration committee and the member of the
audit committee.

Mr. Hou has over 23 years of experience in the aviation
industry. From 1980 to 1994, Mr. Hou served in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC") military. Mr. Hou served as an
officer at the Anti-Smuggling Bureau of the Beijing Customs
Office between September 1994 and March 2002. From
2002 to 2004, Mr. Hou was employed by Sino Television
Co. Ltd (18 E1REBR 2 7)) as a pilot for aerial photography.
From May 2012 to December 2013, Mr. Hou worked at
Anhui Dinghong General Aviation Company Limited* (%
BIBZRBERAMZEABR AR (previously known as the Anhui
Dinghong General Aviation Company Limited* (Z &S RiE@
M ZEAR AR, with his last position being the general
manager responsible for daily operations.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERSREEE (&)

DIRECTORS (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

From February 2015 to August 2017, Mr. Hou was the
general manager of Hunan Sunward General Aviation
Company Limited* (& LA ZENBEMA R A 7)) responsible
for the daily operations of the company. From December
2017 to the present, Mr. Hou has been the legal
representative and general manager of Guizhou Huang Ping
Qie Lan General Aviation Company Limited* (EM=F AR
BAMZEABRR AR responsible for the overall operation and
management.

Mr. Hou completed the fighter pilot diploma at the PRC
People’s Liberation Army Air Force Fourth Aviation School*
(PRARMBMNEZEEFMOMZEZER) in December 1982. He
further obtained a bachelor’s degree in military science from
the Army Staff College* (FEE£:£2Fx) in the PRC in July
1994,

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. SZE So Fan (2 #l), aged 55, is the deputy chief
executive officer of our Group. Ms. Sze joined our Group in
May 1999 and is responsible for overall administration and
human resources management of our Group.

Ms. Sze has over 26 years of experience in the marketing
field. Between March 1998 to April 1999, Ms. Sze worked
as a marketing executive in TFH Technology Co., Ltd.,
a company which engages in the trading of engineering
equipment and she was mainly responsible for assisting
the sales and marketing manager for formulation and
implementation of sales and marketing strategy.

Ms. Sze graduated from Minzu University of China (%R R &
) in June 1991 with a bachelor’s degree in physics.

Mr. KWAN Leung Yu (B8=F), aged 48, is the technology
director of our Group and is responsible for the overall
technical products and supplier relationship management of
our Group. Mr. Kwan has over 25 years of experience in the
engineering field. Mr. Kwan joined our Group in September
1999 as a sales engineer and was promoted to assistant
general manager in April 2004 where he was mainly
responsible for design, tailoring and preparation of technical
proposals of thermal imaging products and services and
self-stabilised imaging related products and services for
our customers. Mr. Kwan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in
engineering from The University of Hong Kong in December
1998.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

EERGHAEEE ()

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. XIA Xiaoming (E#BH), aged 65, is the chief engineer
of our Group. Mr. Xia joined our Group in 2002 and is
responsible for research and development of the products
of our Group. Mr. Xia has over 24 years of experience in the
optoelectronics and general aviation industry. From January
1989 to March 1993, Mr. Xia worked as a teacher in Nanjing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics (F 5 M ZE M X
KE) (formerly known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics
(P RMZERE)). From 1993 to 1995, Mr. Xia worked as
technical manager in Shenzhen Transportation Machinery
and Electronics Company* (ZIIZZEHME F A 7)) and was
responsible for research and development of mechanical
products.

Mr. Xia obtained a master’'s degree in engineering, and
doctor’'s degree in engineering, from Nanjing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics (FA =M ZEMAAE) (formerly
known as Nanjing University of Aeronautics (F R fnZE A )
in December 1984 and May 1989, respectively. He further
obtained a master’'s degree in business administration from
Duguesne University in the United States in December
1997.

Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching (R &4$2), aged 38, is the company
secretary and financial controller of our Group. Ms. Leung
joined our Group in December 2017 and is primarily
responsible for the secretarial, compliance work and overall
financial and accounting operations of our Group.

Ms. Leung has over 15 years of experience in finance and
accounting. She obtained the bachelor degree of business
administration in accountancy from the City University of
Hong Kong in July 2009. She is admitted as a certified public
accountant of the HKICPA in July 20183.

Note: If there is any inconsistency between the official Chinese name of the PRC
laws or regulations or the PRC Government authorities or the PRC entities and
their English translation, the Chinese version shall prevail. English translations
of official Chinese names are for identification purposes only and are marked
with “*".
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Corporate Governance Report

TRERBE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance
report of the Company (the “Corporate Governance Report”)
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Group to safeguard the interests
of shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability.

Since 11 January 2019, the listing date (the “Listing Date"),
the Company has adopted the principles and the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) during the year
on the Stock Exchange.

In the opinion of the Board, the Company has complied with
all the applicable code provisions and, where appropriate,
adopted the recommended best practices set out in the CG
Code throughout year ended 31 December 2024.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “"Model
Code”) as set forth in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own securities dealing code to regulate all dealings by
Directors in the securities of the Company and other matters
covered by the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made to all Directors and they

have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year under review.

PEIPORTHOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2024

BEEEMARINARRBE_ZT _NF+_A
=+t BLFEMNCEERRE ([DEEART
&1)e
TEERH
AABBARNEBRSKENLEERIZE
ExefE  URNIRENEEBRERERZ Eﬁ
ERUREACEBENEEEMS @ 2/KF
MEEERZEZTREE -

B-Z-NAF—A+—H BLEmRABJLH
BEADE  KNAFDRABRAES MR
(T EmARR DM C1rE 2 e EEATRI(TE
BT R B R Bl Ko 57 RIS

EEERA ARFREREE-_T-_NF+=
A=Z+—BLEFER— E%#ﬁé#%%ﬁ
ZEBBEATANGY  WERAEZEREED
(i m) -

BERSWHET

AR BB R _E AR RIPH 8% C3 PR Ay L h 3%
TAEFETEZRZNRESTRI(RET
AINEREBSNESRS T UAEES
ETARBEZFNAER S RRETARERN
HihEI8 -

KRrEEEEHARAME  FEREIRER
EECBEFEAN—FETIRESE -



Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and Senior
Management

The Board is the primary decision-making body of the
Company and is responsible for overseeing the Group's
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
makes decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for
its efficient and effective functioning.

The day-to-day operations and management are delegated
by the Board to the senior management of the Group, who
is responsible for overseeing the general operation, business
development, finance and marketing.

The Company has arranged insurance coverage in respect of
directors’ liability for all Directors.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting
of three executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this Corporate Governance Report, the composition
of the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. NIU Zhongjie

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 23 to 29 of this Annual Report. The relationships
between the members of the Board are also disclosed under
the same section.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (“Mr. YEUNG"), being the chairman
of the Board (the “Chairman”), provides leadership and is
responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of
the Board. Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (“Ms. WONG"), being the
chief executive officer, focuses on the Company’s business
development and the daily management and operations. The
segregation of roles of the Chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company aligns with the requirement pursuant
to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the CG Code, it stipulates that non-executive
Directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject
to re-election and all Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at
the first general meeting after appointment. The Company
has complied with the requirements of the CG Code that
all Directors are appointed for a term of three years. Such
appointment may be terminated earlier by either party giving
to the other not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association (the
“Articles of Association”), at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least one every three years. Accordingly,
Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company and, being eligible, offers
themselves for re-election.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing more
than one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a written annual confirmation in
respect of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term
of three years unless terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by each independent non-
executive Director concerned or our Company expiring at
the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Board
established mechanism to ensure independent views and
input are available to the Board, including encouraging active
participation of the independent non-executive Directors,
complying with the Listing Rules requirement on the
number of independent non-executive Directors appointed
and ensuring the independent non-executive Directors to
devote sufficient time to discharge their duties as a Director.
The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness
of the mechanism on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees,
namely, the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “"Remuneration
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), to oversee particular aspects of
the Company's affairs. All Board committees are provided
sufficient resources to perform its duties and, if necessary,
to seek independent professional advice at the expense of
the Company to fulfill their responsibilities. They are also
required to report to the Board after each meeting on their
decisions or recommendations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since 18
December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules. Currently,
the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. NIU Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG
Hiu Fu Helen and Mr. HOU Min. Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
is the chairwoman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to (i) make
recommendations to our Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditors; (ii) review
the financial statements; (iii) provide material advice in
respect of our financial reporting process; (iv) oversee our
internal control and risk management systems and audit
process; and (v) provide advice and comment to our Board
on matters related to corporate governance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held
four meetings and has performed the following works:

— recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
external auditor and the remuneration;

— considered and reviewed the scope of audit work and
monitored its independence;

— reviewed the unaudited accounts, interim results for
the six months ended 30 June 2024 and annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2023;

— reviewed the continuing connected transactions of the
Group; and

— reviewed the effectiveness of the financial reporting
system, internal control and risk management.

In addition, according to our terms of reference of the Audit
Committee, the Audit Committee also held a meeting with
our external auditor in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established since
18 December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant
to the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules,
the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
were adopted, amended and approved by the Board on 15
December 2022. Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. HOU Min and Mr. NIU Zhongjie and one executive
Director, namely Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching. Mr. HOU Min is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to
(i) review and make recommendations to our Board on
the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses and other
compensation payable to Directors and senior management
of the Company; (ii) assessing performance of Directors;
and (iii) approve the terms of the Directors’ service
contracts. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the
recommendation model described in E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG
Code.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management of the Company and
made recommendations to the Board on their specific
packages; and

— reviewed the fees of the independent non-executive
Directors and made recommendations to the Board.

Details of the remuneration payable to each Director of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee (Continued)
Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the

remuneration of the senior management by band for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was set out below:

ExZEE(#)

FHERE (H)

RIEDETRITAEEEISH BED
HHS

TE+ - A=+ BIEFEREFE LW
HEBEFHMT -

Within the band of A BN F R Number of individuals

A
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£ 7 1,000,000 77T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & T £ 1,500,000 7T 3

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee has been established since
18 December 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1
to the Listing Rules. Currently, the Nomination Committee
comprises two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. NIU Zhongjie and Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and one
executive Director, namely Ms. WONG Kwan Lik. Mr. NIU
Zhongjie is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
to (i) review the structure, size and composition of
our Board; (ii) identify individuals suitably qualified to
become board members; (iii) assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) review and
make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of directors and the management of the
Board succession.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held two meetings and has performed the following works:

— reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the
Board and make recommendations to the Board on
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors;
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee (Continued)

— set up the nomination policy of the Company (the
“Nomination Policy”) and reviewed its implementation;

— identified individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

— assessed the independence of independent non
executive Directors; and

— reviewed the Board diversity policy of the Company (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) and its implementation.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination
Committee would take into account various aspects set
out in the Board Diversity Policy, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
industry experience, technical and professional skills and/or
qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a director.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates to serve
as a director of the Company, the Nomination Committee
would consider the above criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendations to the Board.

As set out in the Board Diversity Policy, the Company
targets to appoint a minimum of one Director of a different
gender. Throughout 2024 and up to the date of this Annual
Report, the Board had two female Directors and 50% of
the senior management were female. The Board targets to
maintain the current level of female representation, with the
minimum of one female member. As of 31 December 2024,
75.4% and 24.6% of the Group’s employees were male
and female, respectively. The Group recognises the value of
gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working
environment.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (Continued)

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement board diversity and review such objectives from
time to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain
the progress made towards achieving those objectives.
The Nomination Committee shall review and monitor the
effectiveness of the board diversity of the Board.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board's
composition under diversified perspectives was summarised
as follows:

Educational background
BEER AE

Undergraduate

EEEHESTLBE(E)

EEeRERFIEAFERENETEZTEN
BEZTEBR - Y TRBRHZF IR - BRE
EERERETENZFERAEER - ZRE
EeREHAEREZENESEXEZ T
)29 e

RAFEREAY  EFSEZTLAR TH
AR RBLRIAT -

Postgraduate
HRE

Designatiop Executive Independent Non-executive
22 M7 B IEHTT
Gender Female
= egis
Age group .
F s (580
Length of service 5-10 years Over 10 years
g 5ZE10F iR 105
0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
NOMINATION POLICY REHX

The Group adopted the Nomination Policy on 22 February
2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed as below.

Objectives

The Nomination Committee assists the Board in making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors. This
policy provides the key selection criteria and principles
of the Nomination Committee in making any such
recommendations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)
Selection Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment
of any proposed candidate to the Board or re-appointment
of any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall consider a variety of factors including
without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of
the proposed candidate:

(1) Reputation for integrity;

(2)  Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
business and other relevant sectors relate to the
Company and/or its subsidiaries;

(3) Commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention
to the Company's business;

(4) Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge and experience;

(5)  The ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(6) Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive Director,
and

(7)  Any other relevant factors as may be determined by
the Nomination Committee or the Board from time to
time.

The appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or
re-appointment of any existing member(s) of the Board shall
be made in accordance with the Articles of Association and
other applicable rules and regulations.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
TEERRE (E)

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

In general, the Board shall have the ultimate responsibility
for all matters relating to the selection, appointment and re
appointment of Directors.

(1)

(3)

The secretary of the Nomination Committee
shall convene a meeting and invite nominations
of candidates from Board members (if any), for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The
Nomination Committee may also nominate candidates
for its consideration.

In the context of appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall undertake adequate due diligence in respect of
such individual and make recommendations for the
Board's consideration and approval.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing
member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation, for the proposed
candidates to stand for re-election at a general meeting.

Review and monitoring of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revisions that may be required and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
on 22 February 2019. A summary of this policy is disclosed
as below.

The Group is committed to maintaining sufficient resources
and flexibility to meet the Group’s financial and operational
requirements. At the same time, the Company continually
seeks ways to enhance shareholders’ value to ensure
sustainable long-term yields for shareholders.

Under the Dividend Policy, the Company gives priority to
distributing dividend in cash and shares its profits with its
shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its
absolute discretion after taking into account the Group's
financial results, future prospects and other factors, and
subject to:

(1) the Articles of Association;

(2) the applicable restrictions and requirements under the
laws of the Cayman Islands;

(3) any banking or other funding covenants by which the
Company is bound from time to time;

(4) the investment and operating requirements of the
Group; and

(5) any other factors that have material impact on the
Company.

The Board may consider distributing special dividend to all
shareholders, and the amount of which shall be determined
and approved by the Board at its absolute discretion.

Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles
of Association of the Company, all of our shareholders have
equal entitlement to dividends and distributions. The Board
shall have the right to review the Dividend Policy from
time to time as it deems fit according to the financial and
business development requirements of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set
out in code provision A.2 of the CG Code.

The Board would review the Company’s corporate
governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management, the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the code
of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) applicable to employees
and Directors, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

In accordance with the code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code,
the Board should establish the Company’s purpose, values
and strategy, and satisfy itself that these and the issuer’s
culture are aligned. Aligning with our motto of “Continuous
striving; Cultivating self, Harmonious Peiport family; Caring
for our staff; Contributing to the society; Creating return for
our shareholders”, all Directors must act with integrity, lead
by example, and promote the desired culture. Such culture
should instil and continually reinforce across the organisation
values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

BOARD MEETINGS

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code stipulates that Board
meetings should be held at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation
of the majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communications.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Notice of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors
at least 14 days in advance while reasonable notice is
given for other Board meetings. Agenda and accompanying
board papers are sent, in full, to all Directors at least 3 days
before the intended date of the regular Board meetings
and Board committees meetings to enable all Directors
to make informed decisions. Minutes of regular Board
meetings and Board committees meetings are drafted
by the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) in sufficient detail the matters considered and
decisions reached. Draft and final versions of minutes of
the meetings are sent to all Board members and Board
committee members for their comment and records, within
a reasonable time after the meetings. Full minutes are kept
by the Company Secretary and open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director.

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board and the Board Committees, and the
AGM during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out
below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BTEERY
Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Name of Directors EERA Board Committee = Committee = Committee AGM

Exg EREES FMEES REZEE RREFAE
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching BiRELE 4/4 - 212 - 11
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik Bk G 4/4 - - 2/2 n
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BREEE 44 - - - 10
Independent Non-Executive Bv##72%

Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie EEERE 4/4 4/4 212 2/2 n
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen BExL+ 4/4 4/4 - 2/2 I
Mr. HOU Min FEEE 444 4/4 212 - n
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TEERHRE (F)

BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Chairman has
also met once with all independent non-executive Directors
without the presence of other Directors, to discuss various
matters in respect of corporate governance of the Company.

In addition, according to the terms of reference of Audit
Committee, the members of the Audit Committee have
met with the auditors in the absence of the management to
discuss matters relating to the auditor’'s remuneration and
scope of audit works during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’'s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

In accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code,
all Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. All Directors are encouraged to
attend relevant training courses at the Company’s expenses.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2024, all Directors, namely
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching, Ms. WONG Kwan Lik, Mr. YEUNG
Chun Tai, Mr. NIU Zhongjie, Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen and
Mr. HOU Min have confirmed that they had complied with
code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code and details are set out
below:
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Types of Trainings

Directors 2= (See Remarks)
EF R
(REf)

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching IBtRiE A B

Ms. WONG Kwan Lik TENLZ L A B

Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai 1BiRZR A B

Independent Non-Executive BUFHITES

Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie GBS E A, B

Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen El=2 3 A B

Mr. HOU Min EIRST A A, B

Remarks: SR

A attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums A HEWE R Semk dinE

B: reading journals, updates, articles and/or materials, etc. B: THEMST - B3 XER/IMEE

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Respect of the Financial
Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
other financial disclosures required in accordance with the
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (Continued)

In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2024, the Directors confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, the accounts is prepared on a going concern
basis and they are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

A statement by the auditor about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is included in the
“Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 71 to 78 of this
Annual Report.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITY AND
REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company
appointed Ernst & Young as the external auditor. Details of
the fees paid or payable in respect of the audit and non-audit
services provided by Ernst & Young for the year ended 31
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December 2024 are set out in the table below: ERBRAMFFBHRTE
Fee paid/
Services Rendered CIREIRH% payable
2/
ENER
HK$'000
F&xT
Audit services: Ei R -
— Annual audit and related services — FEET MABRS 1,280
Non-audit services: IEEFHART
— Agreed-upon procedures with respect to — BT BRENRERF &
interim report and other professional E b EZE R
services 280
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for
overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an on-going basis and reviewing their
effectiveness at least annually in order to safeguard the
interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing
to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives and
ensuring that the Group has established and maintained
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems. The systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee to review
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
controls of the Group. Based on its review, the Audit
Committee advises the Board on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems,
including the identification and monitoring of the risks, the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting functions. The management has also been
delegated to design, implement and maintain the appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Group.

Risk management is curial to promote good corporate
governance. Our risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk control and review. The
management is entrusted with duties to identify, evaluate,
respond, monitor and communicate risks to the head of
the respective business units or department to enforce the
remediation. Risks are assessed by our management and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the Board based on
(i) the probability that the risk will occur; and (i) the severity
of the impact on the Group. According to the likelihood of
occurrence and the impact of the risk, our Group implement
the risk management strategies by avoiding the risk, sharing
or transferring the risk, mitigating the risk, and accepting the
risk.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal
control of the Group, the Company appointed external
advisers to undertake the internal audit function and perform
an annual review of the internal control systems of the
Group. The external advisers evaluate the Group's risk
management and internal control systems by reviewing
the material controls, including financial, operation and
compliance. The rotation basis would be applied to
operations with similar risk associated so as to enhance the
efficiency and effectiveness of the internal audit function.
Review results and the recommendations in the form of
written report are submitted to the Audit Committee for
discussion and review. Follow up actions will be taken up
by the management of the Group to ensure all significant
control activities are properly in place within the Group and
findings previously identified have been properly resolved.

The Company has conducted annual review on the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Groups risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2024 and the management has confirmed that
there is no significant deficiency and weakness on the
internal control system has been identified by the external
advisers. During the year under review, both the Board
and the Audit Committee satisfied and confirmed that the
Group's risk management and internal control systems were
effective and adequate.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to procedures and internal controls for handling
the dissemination of inside information, the Group has
adopted a policy on the disclosure of inside information
(the “Inside Information Policy”) in order to comply with
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") and the
Listing Rules. According to the Inside Information Policy,
the Company has taken appropriate measures to identify
inside information and preserve its confidentiality until
proper dissemination via the electronic publication system
operated by the Stock Exchange. Senior management of
the Group must take all reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent the leakage of inside
information of the Company from time to time. They must
also promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of
inside information to the attention of the Board accordingly
for taking the appropriate action promptly.

Whistleblowing and Anti-Corruption

The Board has adopted the whistle-blowing policy to report
on grievances, misconducts or violations. Formal reporting
channel is established to protect the identification of whistle
blower. If there is any suspected misconduct or malpractice
within the Group, we encourage our employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to come forward and voice
those concerns.

In addition, to prevent bribery and corruption within our
Group, we have formulated the Code of Conduct in order
to set out the basic standard of conduct of all Directors and
staff, and the Company's policy on acceptance of advantage
and handling of conflict of interest when dealing with the
Company's business.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Ms. LEUNG Chin Ching, who
is also the financial controller of the Group, is a full-time
employee of the Company. She reports to the Board
through the Chairman and/or the chief executive officer on
governance matters. Also, all Directors should have access
to her advice and services to ensure that board procedures,
and all applicable law, rules and regulations, are followed.
Her biography is set out on page 29 of this Annual Report in
the section of “Directors and Senior Management”.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms. LEUNG
Chin Ching has confirmed that she has complied with all the
qualifications and training requirements as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings (the
“EGM”) by the Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may whenever it thinks fit call an EGM. EGM shall
also be convened on the requisition of any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company, such member shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company, to require an EGM to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS (Continued)
Putting forward Proposals at a General Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the principal place of business
in Hong Kong of the Company at Suites 603-604, 6/F.,
Chinachem Leighton Plaza, No. 29 Leighton Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information
of the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal
he/she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put forward enquiries to the
Board at general meeting or send written enquiries to the
Company for the attention of the Company Secretary at
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Suites 603-604, 6/F., Chinachem Leighton Plaza, No. 29
Leighton Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a shareholders’
communication policy on 18 December 2018. Such policy
is monitored and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis
to ensure its effectiveness. The Company considers that
effective communication with shareholders is essential for
enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The
Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through AGMs and other
general meetings. At the forthcoming AGM, Directors (or
their delegates as appropriate) will be available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERHRE (F)

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS RELATIONS (Continued)

To promote effective communication, the Company
maintains a website at “www.peiport.com”. Through its
website, the Company provides shareholders with corporate
information, corporate governance practice, interim and
annual reports, announcements, circulars and etc. The
Company will also update the website information from
time to time to inform the shareholders and investors of the
latest development of the Company.

During the year under review, an annual general meeting
of the Company was held on 12 June 2024 at which all the
Directors attended to communicate with the shareholders of
the Company. All corporate communication and regulatory
announcements were timely published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Board considers
that the shareholders communication policy is effective
during the year ended under review.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no significant change
in the Company’s constitution documents. An up-to-date
version of the Articles of Association is available on the
Company's website and the Stock Exchange's website.
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Report of the Directors
ESERE

The Board of Directors is pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries were principally engaged in the provision of (i)
thermal imaging products and services; (ii) self-stabilised
imaging products and services; and (iii) general aviation
products and services. An analysis of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this Annual Report.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group, an indication of likely future developments in the
Group’s businesses and other relevant information, can be
found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 5
to 9 and pages 10 to 22 of this Annual Report, respectively.
Such discussion forms part of this “Report of the Directors”.

In addition, discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations and the key relationships with the Company's
key stakeholders which have a significant impact on
the Group are set out in the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability
of the environment and is committed to becoming an
environmentally friendly corporation. Details of our
environmental, social and governance policies and
performance during the year ended 31 December 2024 shall
be disclosed in a standalone “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” and to be published at the same time
as the publication of the Annual Report on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2024
and the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2024
are set out in the financial statements on pages 80 to 81.
The Board are pleased to recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK1.35 cents (2023: HK1.35 cents) per
share for the year ended 31 December 2024 and a special
dividend of HK2.70 cents (2023: 1.35 cents) per share to
the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Wednesday, 25 June 2025,
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
AGM to be held on Thursday, 12 June 2025. It is expected
that the Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special
Dividend will be paid on or before Tuesday, 8 July 2025. The
Proposed Final Dividend and the Proposed Special Dividend
shall be declared and distributed in Hong Kong dollars.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the audited results and the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements as restated/reclassified as appropriate,
is set out on page 2 of this Annual Report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
1 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024 are
set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in note 24
to the financial statements.

DEBENTURE ISSUED

The Group did not issue any debenture during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for disclosed in “Share Option Scheme” as set out in
this section, no equity-linked agreements were entered into
by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in
note 36 to the financial statements and the consolidated
statements of changes in equity. The distributable reserve of
the Company as at 31 December 2024 was HK$45,809,000.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, sales to the
Group's five largest customers accounted for 46.5% of the
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 14.8%.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 90.7%
of the total purchases for the year and purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to 65.3%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their
associates or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest
in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during
the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this Annual Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching (Chairman)
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. NIU Zhongjie
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen
Mr. HOU Min

The Company has received written annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Nomination Committee has duly reviewed the independence
of each of these directors. The Company considered that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 23 to 29 of
this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Directors has entered into a service agreement
with our Company for a term of three years and are subject
to termination in accordance with their respective terms. The
term of the service contracts may be renewed in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the applicable rules of
the Listing Rules.

Save as discussed above, none of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service
contract with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries,
which is not terminable by employing company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and chief
executive officer and the five highest paid employees
of the Group are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices. The Company has maintained appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance to provide
appropriate coverage for the Directors and other officers of
the Group throughout the year and are currently in force.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport Alpha Ltd. (“Peiport
Alpha"), each being the controlling shareholder (as defined
under the Listing Rules) of the Company (the “Controlling
Shareholder(s)"), have entered into a deed of non-
competition dated 18 December 2018 (in favour of the
Company (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). Details of
the Deed of Non-Competition were set out in the section
headed "“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
prospectus of the Company. The Company has received
confirmations from Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport
Alpha of their compliance with the terms of the Deed of
Non-Competition. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG and Peiport
Alpha declared that they have fully complied with the Deed
of Non-Competition for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the confirmations from the Controlling
Shareholders and confirmed that up to the date of this
Annual Report, all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition have been complied with by Mr. YEUNG, Ms.
WONG and Peiport Alpha.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this Annual Report, the following Directors
and chief executive officer of the Company had or were
deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code:

EERTRARRKRSG  HEROR
EEEPNERERAR

RAFEREBH - THARRRESERITHA
BRARBAHEEEAREEE(EELIEFK
HAE RGBS XV E#B) 2 Bedn ~ MR KB E
THEB IR AES () REFE S LG GRIE
XVEBE 7 M8 D BAME ANA A R A 2 4
DZIRR (BRBEEFREEZRAE GO ZZ
EREREFXIRBEB IR IAR) X
(i) IR 3578 7 K B 16151 35 352 IR 7R R 8RN A% 16k
PIFrte 2 Bt 2 SOXR ¢ (i) RIBF
ETREMEARNRR LB R gk R

Ordinary Shares of the Company: AT ZEBRRM
Number of ordinary Approximate

Capacity/ shares and percentage of
Name of Director  Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
EEHE B RmE ERERNEE RESER BFERBNE D (%)
Mr. YEUNG © Interest of a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?

corporation

BEAEe SEHAE R 300,000,000 A& % 2 (L)
Ms. WONG ® Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%2
Ertoe foiBHEss 300,000,000 A& A& 17 (L)
Notes: FHRE -
1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares of the 1. F L] EBZALTRARBRD ([N ) BiF e o

Company (the “Share(s)").

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue
after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 756% by Peiport Alpha. The entire
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 50% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our
Company.

2. ER BRI E T % B TR 4 £400,000,000 &
FTHE -

3. AABRBFAEEEFLT5% © BFMBENE
WMEBTRADHABEERTLLHEF0% R
30% HEs - TREARBELEMEE it REF
FRBEGRY - FRERGEESEABREARKRF
MEER AN ZMROTEEED - HBEE  £X
TR EM R ERR AR AR —ABERRR

HEERERAT /2024 F3k

59



60

Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES (Continued)

Ordinary Shares of an Associated Corporation —
Peiport Alpha:

EERTRARRKRSG  HEROR
EEEPNESERAR (&)

HFFEE — BB EE 2 EBRRMD

Number of Approximate

Capacity/ ordinary shares and percentage of
Name of Director  Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
EEnA B REEME EERNE A RESER BFRBNE DL (%)
Mr. YEUNG © Beneficiary owner 8 shares (L) 80%?
B E EmEBA 8 Rz A% (7 (L)
Ms. WONG © Interest of spouse 8 shares (L) 80%?
Fitw® Ao fE i e 8RR AR A7 (L)
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai Beneficiary owner 2 shares (L)™ 20%
BIRER A EmBA 2 A (L)
Notes: ffsE -
1. The letter “L" denotes to the person with long position in the shares. 1. FEIL]EZALTREOOIE -
2. The calculation is based on the total number of 10 shares of Peiport Alpha in 2. EREEMREEFITRMEE10KRTE -

issue.

3. The entire issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 5 shares and 3 3. HEMBENEIEEITRABGEER T LTS

shares by Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG respectively. Since Ms. WONG is the
spouse of Mr. YEUNG, pursuant to the SFO, they are deemed to be interested
in 80% of issued share capital of Peiport Alpha and the Shares held by Peiport
Alpha.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the Directors and chief executive officer
of the Company had any interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which he was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred to therein or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
and chief executive officer’s interests and short positions in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” in this section,
at no time during the year ended 31 December 2024 were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” as
set out in this section and the related party transactions
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements of this
Annual Report, no Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contracts of significance to the business of the Group
to which the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party, at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors nor their respective associates had an interest in
a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) has been conditionally adopted on 18
December 2018.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option
to any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants (the “Eligible Participants”), to take up options
to subscribe for the shares:

(1) any full-time or part-time employees, executives or
officers of our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(2) any directors (including executive, non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) of
our Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(3) any advisers (professional or otherwise), consultants,
suppliers, customers and agents to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries; and

(4) related entities who, in the sole opinion of the Board,
will contribute or have contributed to our Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on the Listing
Date and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme (i.e. 17 December 2028). As at the
date of this Annual Report, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was around three years and eight months.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 40,000,000 shares, representing
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the
Listing Date and as at the date of this Annual Report. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options
granted to each eligible participant in the Share Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options)
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant of share
options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. A grant of share options under
the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief executive
officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to
any of their associates, is subject to approval in advance
by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding any
independent non-executive Director who is the grantee
of the option). In addition, any grant of share options to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, or to any of their associates, which
would result in the shares issued and to be issued, upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding),
to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of the grant in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.
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ESETHE (E)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted on
or before the relevant acceptance date upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The
exercise period of the share options granted is determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion, save that such a
period shall not be more than 10 years from the date of offer
of the share options and subject to the provisions for early
termination as set out in the Share Option Scheme. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. The exercise price of the share options
shall be not less than the highest of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of offer of
the share options, which must be a date on which the Stock
Exchange is open for business of dealing in securities; (ii)
the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s
shares for the five trading days immediately before the date
of offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share
as at the date of offer.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme
and is established to recognise and acknowledge the
contributions Eligible Participants had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in
our Company with the view to achieving the following
objectives: (i) motivate Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going business
relationship with Eligible Participants whose contributions
are or will be beneficial to the long-term growth of the
Group.

No options had been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme during the year and up to
the date of this Annual Report. The Company did not have
any outstanding share options, warrants and convertible
instruments into shares as at 31 December 2024 and up to
the date of this Annual Report.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As of the date of this Annual Report, so far as was known
to any Director, or chief executive officer of our Company,
the following persons (other than the Directors and chief
executive officer of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests and/or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to our Company and the Stock

P E RS

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Number of

FERRRAR®G - HERG R EEE

RAFERE B BARRESTHITRAE
PR - AT AL (RRREERITHRARIRIN)
KRB - AERRR (D R EAE R A AR
BREBRBEESKPEGRAIEXVEE2 %3
D EARMARE REZ R EA R R, SOK
BRARBRIEZ 7 KRG 5GP 336 R T
BEELMASNERR AR

Approximate

Name of Capacity/ ordinary shares and percentage of

Shareholder Nature of interest class of securities shareholding (%)
ZERNER

g et 510 RmtE RFEHFER BERBIAE 2 (%)

Peiport Alpha® Beneficial owner 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?

b RE® Emlia A 300,000,000 A& A& 15 (L)

Mr. YEUNG® Interest in a controlled 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?

corporation

155 © REHEE R 300,000,000 A& A& 1 (L)

Ms. WONG® Interest of spouse 300,000,000 Shares (L) 75%?

Fzt® e (B4 5 300,000,000 HER%A7 (L)

Notes: PHaE -

1. The letter “L” denotes to the entity’s with long position in the securities. 1. FHEILIEZEBRNESNTE -

2. The calculation is based on the total number of 400,000,000 Shares in issue 2. ERE I E T E B E1TIR1D 4 £0400,000,000 %

after completion of the global offering.

3. Our Company is owned as to approximately 75% by Peiport Alpha. The entire 3. RARBBREMBREREBLT5%  BREMBENHZE
issued share capital of Peiport Alpha is owned as to 50% and 30% by Mr.
YEUNG and Ms. WONG, respectively. Ms. WONG is the spouse of Mr. YEUNG
and therefore each of Ms. WONG and Mr. YEUNG is deemed to be interested
in Shares held by Peiport Alpha pursuant to the SFO. Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Alpha together are a group of Controlling Shareholders of our

Company.

-

MEBTRADHABEERTLLHAE0% &
30% #am o TR L RBEENTRE Bt - REE
FRBEGRY - ERERBGEEEARRARERF
MEERANZRROTRERDZ - HBEE  TX
T RIEFEMRERR AR R F AR R

HEERERAT /2024 F3k

65



66

Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Annual
Report, none of the substantial or significant shareholders or
other persons, other than the Directors and chief executive
officer of the Company whose interests are set out in the
paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive officer's
interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares
and debentures” in this section, had any interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying shares as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than the employment contracts,
concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 are disclosed in note
30 to the financial statements. These transactions were
conducted in accordance with terms as agreed between us
and the respective related parties. Our Directors confirm
that all related party transactions during the year ended 31
December 2024 were conducted on normal commercial
terms that were reasonable and in the interest of our Group
as a whole. Save as disclosed in below sections of this
Annual Report, there were no other connected transactions
or non-exempted continuing connected transactions under
the Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report. The
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PEIPORTHOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUALREPORT 2024

FERRAR®G - HERG R EEE
PR ()

(R EXPRIREEESN RAFERE A - HE
IZURFRERRIEMBAL(ARAES
RATRABE RSN - BN ANED [EF RTT
BARE R - ABRER D R ERERE T R &
KR —BIRARBBR D RBEROTHEE
AR RIRBES M ERPIF 3B KR ERE
Z BT ERH TS SRR -

REBE-_ZE-_NE+-_A=+—HIFE &
I B AN E BTSN 2 BT EARIH Y
BEENITHEEI LR TFERLHERBAENS
Gh) o

B X Z

AEBRBEZ_ZT_NF+_A=+—8L
FEFINEBE TR SBEERN Y ERERNMF
30 ° ZFR Z IR F M 148 FE BE B 7 175 7E A9 {5
FOETT c HPIMEERER  REZ2-_T-_UF
T AT —HIEFENME B TR 5191%
BEN—MEERIET  UHEAEENE
BERa o RANF ERE T XERFTIHEEIN
RAFERE B E EHREIE T E AR
ERXSIERPIFEBER S - NAREESF
EMRAIE VAEZEREHEERTE ©



Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Continuing Connected Transactions

On 15 December 2022, the Company, on behalf of its
associates as the tenants, and Ms. WONG, Mr. YEUNG
and Peiport Scientific as the landlords, entered into the
framework lease agreement (the “Framework Lease
Agreement”) in respect of the properties provided by the
landlords to the Group to streamline the leasing relationship
in respect of the leased properties between the Group and
the landlords. The Framework Lease Agreement became
effective on 1 January 2023 and be valid for a term of two
years. On 18 December 2024, the Company, on behalf of
its associates as the tenants, and Mr. YEUNG, Ms. WONG
and Peiport Scientific as the landlords, entered into a new
framework lease agreement which shall be effective on
1 January 2025 and be valid for a term of three years.

In accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards 16 applicable to the Group, the leases to
be entered into by the Company as lessee under the
Framework Lease Agreement will be recognised as right-of
use assets. Mr. YEUNG and Ms. WONG are the Controlling
Shareholders and executive Directors, while Peiport
Scientific is owned as to 70% and 30% by Mr. YEUNG
and Ms. WONG, respectively and is an associate of the
Controlling Shareholders. Accordingly, each of Mr. YEUNG,
Ms. WONG and Peiport Scientific is a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
the transactions under the Framework Lease Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The annual caps in respect of the total value of right-of-
use assets to be recognised by the Company for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2024 are
HK$2.5 million and HK$6.0 million, respectively.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
Continuing Connected Transactions (Continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that these
continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) according to the agreement governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company's shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, Ernst & Young,
the Company's external auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Financial statements and with reference to
Practice Note 740 Auditors’ Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the HKICPA. Ernst & Young issued an unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and
confirmed the continuing connected transactions did not
exceed the respective annual caps during the year.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which
fell to be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure
of connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESTHE (E)

REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the remuneration policy for
employees of the Group is determined based on their
responsibilities, qualifications, performance, experience and
seniority which are reviewed periodically.

Compensation of Directors of the Group is reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee, approved by the Board and
authorised by the shareholders at the AGM of the Company,
which is based on the Group’'s performance and the
Directors’ respective contributions to the Group.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme are set out in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” on pages 62 to 64 of this Annual Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by our
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report”
section on pages 30 to 52 of this Annual Report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as
at the date of this Annual Report, at least 25% of the
Company's total number of issued shares were held by the
public.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event after the reporting period are
set out in note 34 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors (Continued)

ESETHE (E)

AUDITOR
A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for
the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the independent

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board of Directors

Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B R RETRE

e

Ernst & Young ZXEF BB Tel i +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place, R A B R 2795 Fax {£H: +852 2868 4432
979 King's Road, K —RE274E ey.com
ﬁj‘ Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Peiport Holdings Ltd. B FERERAFRR

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 168, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report (Continued)

B2 RET RS ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on
the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BAREREE

HRELZSEE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EENERNTEERRELSE

Impairment assessment of trade and bills receivables

B 5 WA R E N 1R 19 5 (8 7

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade and bills
receivables of HK$38,586,000, after making an impairment
provision of HK$20,176,000, among which HK$18,670,000
were provided for certain individual customers. The Group
applies the simplified approach to determine the impairment
for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) under HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime ECLs for all trade and bills
receivables. To measure the ECLs, trade and bills receivables
are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due, and the calculation of ECLs is based on
the historical observable default rates and forward-looking
information.

RZZBE_ME+ZA=+—H  EB5EFERERE20,176,000
BILe A B 5 E W HKRIE K E W FE #38,586,000/8 7T - H
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B BREENFEIR THRACEEEB((RREEEREER
B - ZEAFHTE B ZRUIGRIE KB W E R A 2 BT A1
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We focused on this area because it required a high level of
management judgement and estimation and the amounts
involved were material.
EEHIZERTENEZTESKTINERE AN KA - Bk
EAEH o

The Group's disclosures of the trade and bills receivables are
included in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the financial statements.
EREHE S RKFIERERZENRES NI BREMTE24 3
17 e

We assessed the Group's internal
control over the credit control of trade
and bills receivables. We also reviewed
management’'s assessment regarding
the recoverability of the Group's trade
and bills receivables by evaluating the
assumptions and methodologies of
the ECLs model, obtaining evidence
by background search and review of
repayment history, checking the accuracy
of ageing of trade and bills receivables
and forward-looking information, and
recalculating ECLs. We also assessed
the disclosures related to trade and bills
receivables in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEEZEE

HREZSE (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

EENERNTEERRERSE

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEEE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had inventories
of HK$70,473,000, after making provision for inventory
obsolescence of HK$7,119,000. Provision for inventory
obsolescence is based on management judgement using
the available data and existing circumstances, including, but
not limited to, the physical conditions, market selling prices
and estimated selling costs of the inventories.
RZTE-_WMEF+_A=+—H ' ESEEFLEREGCER®E
7,119,000/ T8 B17E 70,473,000 T - REFEBEHIENE
BECEAAGHEEIRBEFEL(BRETERFEENERAKRL - @
15 & B R AT SHE AR T 80 2

We focused on this area as the inventories were material to
the consolidated financial statements and the determination
of provision for inventory obsolescence involved significant
management judgement and estimation.
EERIZBEB AR GFEHGREVBRREEN  BEERET
BEREY R EEERE AN R GET -

The Group’s disclosures of the inventories are included in
notes 2.4, 3 and 16 to the financial statements.
BEEEHTFENREHNUERERMTE24 3% 16
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We attended management’s inventory
counts and observed the processes at
material inventory locations, including
observing the processes implemented
by management to identify and monitor
obsolete inventories. We evaluated the
assessments made by management in
respect of the identification of inventory
obsolescence by assessing the inventory
costing, ageing reports, and obsolete
inventories on a sampling basis. We re-
calculated the provision for inventory
obsolescence in accordance with the
Group’s policy.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of
the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
Company's audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

BRBMRERGS M B RRAEREN
B1E (&)

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Mee Kwan, Helena.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
MeEakHEMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF —NF+_—H=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
“ECME —T_=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B e TET TAT
REVENUE &= 5 257,749 264,037
Cost of sales HHERK R (180,750) (182,608)
Gross profit EF 76,999 81,429
Other income and gains, net H At A R 58 5 58 5 8,189 4,903
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEFEY (35,223) (33,313)
Administrative expenses THRY (38,044) (38,541)
Impairment losses on financial EREERESEFHE
assets, net 6 (6,552) (12,689)
Other expenses H BT (5,116) (5,579)
Finance costs BEFSRAN 7 (645) (576)
LOSS BEFORE TAX RRB A5 1R 6 (392) (4,366)
Income tax (expense)/credit FRER (), HER 10 (3,186) 770
LOSS FOR THE YEAR EEFE (3,578) (3,596)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hti2mEUkz
Other comprehensive loss that may FERERHIRE D AR
be reclassified to profit or loss in T TR EMEEESE :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on MEINE TR E R
translation of foreign operations (515) (1,240)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FREMEEEE
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX B8 (515) (1,240)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FAXHEHBRAR
FOR THE YEAR (4,093) (4,836)
Loss attributable to: DAT%?‘W@?{H%TE :
Owners of the parent szﬁﬁ)\ (3,464) (3,263)
Non-controlling interests 3&% keSS (114) (333)
(3,578) (3,596)
Total comprehensive loss TE R EGEEEE
attributable to: #E
Owners of the parent UNGIEZ 2PN (3,979) (4,503)
Non-controlling interests IR (114) (333)
(4,093) (4,836)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE #®ARZEERERZIEZEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS ELSRER
OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted EARRES 12 HK(0.87) cents#&fl HK(0.82) cents &l

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e ISR R

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-mE —TE-=F
+=-ZA=+—H +-A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B eE FTER FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y R KRR 13 5,382 6,616
Right-of-use assets BREEE 14(a) 10,804 5,147
Intangible assets B EE 15 149 538
Deferred tax assets RILRIEE 23 10,795 10,498
Total non-current assets EREFEELE 27,130 22,799
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
[nventories FE 16 70,473 71,223
Trade and bills receivables B oA R EREZ® 17 38,586 57,705
Prepayments, deposits and other BRI - Ze Kk
receivables H il =g 18 10,006 13,745
Cash and cash equivalents BERESZEY 19 252,463 243,342
Total current assets MEVEERA 371,528 386,015
CURRENT LIABILITIES TBAE
Trade payables 2 SN IE 20 14,329 17,012
Other payables and accruals HibENRIBNETE R 21 18,327 18,935
Contract liabilities AHEE 22 21,765 20,321
Lease liabilities HEEE 14(b) 5,007 4,211
Tax payable FENTRIE 5,637 4,967
Total current liabilities mEAERE 65,065 65,446
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 306,463 320,569
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERREBEE
LIABILITIES 333,593 343,368
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEARE 14(b) 6,026 1,058
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHIBEE 23 14 65
Total non-current liabilities FERBEERE 6,040 1,123
Net assets BESE 327,553 342,245
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

mE BRI (E)

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—E-mE —TE-=F
+=A=+—H +-A=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(i3 FERT FHAT
EQUITY s
Equity attributable to owners of BAREEAELESR
the parent

Share capital [ 24 4,000 4,000
Reserves ] 25 323,553 338,332
327,553 342,332
Non-controlling interests JEPRARIE T = (87)
Total equity EmBE 327,553 342,245

YEUNG Lun Ching

B
Director

EF

WONG Kwan Lik

B3]
Director

EE

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EIR
Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z2 —F _UF{+—-HA=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRTRAAER
Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share Share Other  surplus  fluctuation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve®  reseve®  profits® Total interests equity
kB R
A REE* EtEE  BE  GE RERT & Er EROH
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tér  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr T TEx
(note 24) note 25 (note 25
(s 24) (Wit25)  (Wi20)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-f=1-H 4,000 91446 (66,843 5623 (1786) 319757 352,197 U5 32442
Effect of adoption of amendments to Fagken g 125608
HKAS 12 18 - - - - - 3% 3 1 ki
At 1 January 2023 (restated) RZE-=E-f-R(BEF)) 4,000 91446 (66,843) 5623 (1786)  31979% 362235 26 352481
Loss for the year FEEE = - - - - (3263 (3263 (333 (35%)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ENEHZEESE
Exchange differences on translation of RENRRBNELZE
foreign operations - - - - (1,240) - (1,240) - (1,240)
Total comprehensive loss ENZESEEE
for the year - - - - (1400 (3263 (4503 (333 (4836)
Transfer from retained profits ERARTET = - - 109 - (109) - - -
Final 2022 dividend paid BfzE-—ERERke - (B40) - - - - (b400) - (b40)
At31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024~ MZE-=E+ZF=1-Bk
“E-mE-F-A 4,000 86,046  (66,843) 5,132 (3026) 316423 342,332 (87) 342,245
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - (3464)  (3,464) (114)  (3,578)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREMEAER:
Exchange differences on translation of RENAERNELZE
foreign operations - - - - (515) - (515) - (515)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREASEEE - - - - (515)  (3464) (3,979 (114) (4,09
Disposal of subsidiaries note 26) HEMBAR (i 26) - - - - - - - 201 201
Special 2023 dividend paid BNZE_ZERkS - (5400 - - - - (5400 - [5400)
Final 2023 dividend paid BfiZE-z5RERE - (5400 - - - - (5400 - (5400
At 31 December 2024 R-E-RME+-A=1-H 4,000 75246 (66,843) 5,132 (3541 312959 327,553 - 327553
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of @ WEREBLEGAEUERARABLE S EH

HK$323,553,000 (2023: HK$338,332,000) in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

323,553,000/ 7T ( —F — =4 : 338,332,000/ 7T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF —NF+_—H=+—HIFFZ

2024 2023
—E_NE S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B e BT TAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHIESRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax: B A ATEE - (392) (4,366)
Adjustments for: AT RIEEL A
Finance costs BTSN 7 645 576
Bank interest income RITF S A 5 (7,725) (4,279)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment REBEEEE 6 3 136
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR 5 (4) -
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BRENMREITE
equipment 6 1,582 1,817
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERTE 6 6,918 7,137
Amortisation of intangible assets T B B 6 290 338
Provision for inventory obsolescence, REFERETE
net 6 4,724 291
Impairment losses on financial CREEREHETE
assets, net 6 6,552 12,689
12,593 14,339
Increase in inventories FEE (4,945) (19,477)
Decrease in trade and bills receivables Z SN ERE R
S 10,836 2,752
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and ~ FBNZIE - ke REMELK
other receivables B 3,530 7,918
Increase in trade payables 5 R B 997 73
Increase in other payables and accruals H AR~ 3008 % e B AL N 382 1,991
Increase in contract liabilities BRAEEM 2,530 5,143
Cash generated from operations BEMEAES 25,923 12,739
Interest received BUYH S 7,725 4,279
Interest paid EAFLE (645) (576)
Income taxes paid BRI FEE (3,007) (1,721)
Net cash flows from operating activities K& EEFFREE LS FHE 29,996 14,721
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETEHMBHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, Wi - BE REEEE
plant and equipment 13 (490) (998)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME  HER
property, plant and equipment REEEFSRIE - 5
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR 26 (604) -
Additions of intangible assets REBWEE 15 (153) -
Withdrawal/(additions) of time deposits 128/ (A8 BABRE
with original maturity of more than ANEMAZR=(EH 2z
three months when acquired EHIER 54,600 (15,600)
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing REEEFE/(FTR)
activities Remne $8 53,353 (16,593)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

SERTRER (E)

Year ended 31 December 2024 #Z —ZF — 1+ —H=1—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E_E =
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B s THERT TAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHHRERERE
ACTIVITIES
Principal portion of lease payments HENREL RS 27(b) (6,797) (7,222)
Dividends paid BERRRE (10,300) (5,400)
Net cash flows used in financing activities FE&EEEFfMAR L RS F50E (17,597) (12,622)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HR&RELZEWEM (RL)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS T 65,752 (14,494)
Cash and cash equivalents at FORe A LEEY
beginning of year 188,742 205,598
Effect of foreign exchange HNERE R B B BT R
rate changes, net (2,031) (2,362)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FEXRBERFESEEY
END OF YEAR 252,463 188,742
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRESEBUNEHRIT
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Non-pledged and non-restricted cash and & # & IE R #1364
bank balances KRBT 19 111,447 92,446
Non-pledged and non-restricted time EAH N IE 2R il 7E i1 X
deposits 19 141,016 150,896
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in RAENBARRRNIES
the consolidated statement of financial RESZEBY
position 19 252,463 243,342
Non-pledged time deposits with original Y& RZ|HI B BB =18 A
maturity of more than three months infgaeiival-ilcE oy
when acquired - (54,600)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in AR SRERFIMIRS
the consolidated statement of REeEED
cash flows 252,463 188,742
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Notes to Financial Statements
B A& SRR M E

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ARREEER
Peiport Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) is a limited BEERBRAB(ARRAE]) BRH
liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands. EHETMEKIMNBERAR - AR F
The registered office of the Company is located at # =k fiit #%¥ = 52 #b 4F /4 Cricket Square,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °
The Company is an investment holding company. KRR A —HEEZERAR - FRARA
During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries AR EHME AR (A [AEE ) EEHK
(collectively the “Group”) were principally engaged SRMENAKEERERE  ()BRE
in the provision of (i) thermal imaging products and PR R BRS¢ R (i) B M = 2 @ &
services; (ii) self-stabilised imaging products and AR o
services; and (iii) general aviation products and services.
In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding BEERR ARBENERKERARRRE
company of the Group is Peiport Alpha Ltd., which is ERREERAR  HRKEBER R
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI"). S((RBEBRAES ) MK -
Information about subsidiaries MELRER
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as RAFIMEABRNEFELRT
follows:
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
R/ AR BERTEER/ NG}
£ KEmE R BEEA TEEHR
Direct Indirect
HiE B
% %
Peiport Bravo Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars 100 - Investment holding
("HK$") 1
REERBRA RBEBRRHEE/BE 187 (%)) KA
Peiport Creative Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
RERIFBRAR RBEBRRHEE/BE BT KA
Peiport Delta Ltd. BVI/Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
REEREERAR RBEBRRHEE/BE BT KA

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Br RS R R M (A8

— —

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Name

R

Place of
incorporation/
registration and
business

R/ AR
R

Issued
ordinary/
registered
share capital
BRITEER/
A

1. RARKEEER(F)

MEARER(E)

Percentage
of equity
attributable
to the Company
KARELR
EEEA
Direct Indirect
B B
% %

Principal activities

TEEH

Peiport Scientific Aero Limited

FEMRARAH

Peiport Industries Limited

DNL Optoelec Systems Limited
BERXEZRERARA

Peiport (Shanghai) Optoelectronics
Technology Limited®

(L8 K ERHARATS

Hong Kong

30

Hong Kong

&iE

Hong Kong
BB

People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC")/
Mainland China

PEARLME
(TR /mEn

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HK$1

18T

HK$2,000,000

2,000,000/7C

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000/ 7T

Renminbi (“RMB”)
20,180,000

ARE(TARR])
20,180,000 7T

= 100

Provision of (i} thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

BRA () B R E i SRS 2
(i) ERERGER KRR : &
(i) 78 PR 22 2 o X PR S

Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (i) general
aviation products and services

FRA () AP EE m S RS
fi) BRERGED KRS : &
(i) B A= E i X R

Provision of thermal imaging
products and services

R B E i R AR 7

Provision of (i) thermal imaging
products and services; (i) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (iii) general
aviation products and services

HRAE () AP E SR PR
(i) BRERGER KRS : R
(i) 3 PR 2= o R PR



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B &R R M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION AR REEER (F)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEARER (&)
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration and registered attributable
Name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
R/ ERAR BRITEER/ KARELR
£ gk R BEEDL TEXRK
Direct Indirect
HiE B

%

%

Guangzhou Peiport Sijing PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
Optoelectronics System Limited® products and services; (ii) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (i) general
aviation products and services
BNGFRRIERGARATY B/ TERKM ARE R () BB E R R R
20,000,000 70 (i) BRERGER RS : &
(i) 3% PR 22 22 o S PR 7
Beijing Peiport Jingdu Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB5,100,000 - 100 Provision of (i) thermal imaging
Limited® products and services; (ii) self-
stabilised imaging products
and services; and (i) general
aviation products and services
IRRERBRRERA R R B/ HE R AR¥5,100,0007C R () BB E R R R
i) BERERGERRRY &
(i) 3% PR 22 22 m S PR 7
Peiport (Zhuhai) Air Equipment PRC/Mainland China United States - 100  Provision of general aviation
Manufacturing Limited® dollars ("USS$") products and services
250,000
& OR8) e R g B/ HER 250,000% 7T REBRNZER LS
BRARE (EIA))
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law (a) RIEP B EETMAIINEEEDE
(b) Registered as limited liability companies under the PRC law (b) BB EEIMABRA R

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. The financial statements
are presented in HK$ and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over
an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M ()

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

1 RBEE

BBRRDBREBEERGAMAS(EE
SETEN AR |) M8 ) F B B 5 S 2 R
(IBBMBHRELER]) (BEMEREYH
BmEEL  BREGFEN(EE G
A ]) k) REERARGRIINKER
EMmimE o EVIRELKANEDIRER -
M mERIAETESY - BFBEEESY
EEHBONT - ESERAERID -

REANREE

FAMBERRERAKERE_T N
F+_A=+—HALFENPBERRK -

MEBARAARBERAFEREHNE
B(EREHREER) EA5EH2HE
REHREBNFPORAERRKF
BREFIANEERE R E S RAES (A
AEBEEETHRAEENUNTERELR
HHERE SRR RER) B E i T 0 b
BOER{S 2 I #E -

R—RBERTEOFES BREETKE
BT - WARRERELIREKREY
KRZHREHBLENOER - BIA
SERNFEESSHAHKREHRNE
NReER—EBEEERIEN B8

(a) HEREHRNHMEZERBADN
BRI

(b) EAEKILPPTELAERN &

() ARENRERREBEERTE-



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SR M (5])

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 REEE(E)
Basis of consolidation (Continued) HEANREZE (F)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be
consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’'s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

B A R M R E R EARR —
MEBRZA RS HRGS - M8
NEMFRERARERGTEH#EE BRE
AAARARE  YREFASRAKRER
ZIEHIREIEER B

BaE kA2 EksEn S EAKE DR
BRASES AR NES A RIFERE
o AELREEBRERESLERE
MR TEABAASESKE QAR
MR ZHEERLARHEEREE
#mE WA AxXhBEEREERNES
FRE R ZBURE o

i =8 R B BN | SRRt = TRZ I A
R -HEXZELBREL  AEESE
A EERREHRESESR - RN—RH
BRABMBEAEEZZS  HEILEKE
ZHIHE - ISR S AR

AR EMB AR ZEGE  BE
RILERNEEE(BERER)  AFE -
EAAT R 4% A e 2 e B O BD i - AT
RIEAREREN R FERFEELR
B RN T AR EA - THER
H b 2 [ A o PR ) AN S BB R {1 4L A D
M NEH S BE B S LR E G A (i i3
) EREEREEER D EHEBEEN
BEMBERNEERR -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B R R M EE ()
31 December 2024 —ZF=py#+=—H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The adoption of the revised HKFRSs does not have
any material impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.
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UTRIERI BB BHELED -
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ROEFTA
BRGRANE 1R RESEARDZ
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

B iR R b aE (4E)
31 December 2024 —F I+ =-H=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements. The Group
intends to apply these new and revised HKFRSs, if

23 ERMEERERNEEBH KR

HEER
AEEY BN EFVHERREANATE
AR AE i1 R A R AT RAERT BB B
B EER - REBEBNZFH] ML
BRI EBMBHRELENERFGEAZE

applicable, when they become effective.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification
and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of Financial

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability'
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Standards — Volume 11

Instruments?
Contracts Referencing Nature-

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

9 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

ER (@A) »

BEMBREENF 185

BEMBHREEAE 195

BEMHHREEAE IR R
BEIH RS ERIE 75
MR A

BRMBREEUNEIRR
BB ERET SR
RIIERTAR

EBHMBHREEE 105K
ARG ENE28%M
CHES

BB GERE 2157
CHES

BB R ER 2 R
MFERHE— F 115

B HEN 2R
wE

YERFRE )
WERA] : RE

ERTASER
EmEET

R ERGREE
BHZEH?

REFHAEBER
Al A EDEZ
B EEL &5
AE

B AL

B BHEER
F1% - ABHHK
WEERE T -
BB BREE
B 9% - BB
BHREERAZE 10
KRBEBGHE
AIE 7 HRAIERT2

! REZE-RF - A HRZRAKRNEED

A

? REZBZRF—HA - BRZEAFIENFER

AR

g RZTEZtF—A—Askz2ERBENE

B/ s B AR

¢ 58 1) A 20 F BA ) R 75 E 1B AT (R AR

wrrraman/ 20245 91
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs upon
initial application. Other than further explained below,
the Group considers that these new and revised
HKFRSs may result in changes in accounting policies
but are unlikely to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have
been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, including
specified totals and subtotals. Entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18,
limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings
per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In
addition, there are minor consequential amendments
to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application
is required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS
18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group's
financial statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHER

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability,
or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 —  based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 —  based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial
assets), the asset’'s recoverable amount is estimated.
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE

(Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on
a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) bhas significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE

(Continued)
Related parties (Continued) A (&)
(b)  (Continued) (b) (&)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment
are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
Furniture, fixtures and office  20% to 33'5%
equipment
Plant and machinery 20% to 33'5%
Equipment for rental purpose  20%

Motor vehicles 33":%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the
parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual
values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETHHE(E

(Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and assessed
for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Computer software and intellectual property
license

Purchased computer software and acquired intellectual
property license are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over
its estimated useful life of 2 to 5 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether
a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets as follows:

Several warehouses, system 1 to b years
integration and service centres,
office properties and car
parking spaces (collectively the
“Properties”)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of |lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade and bills
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss, transaction costs. Trade and bills receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
SR (F
31 December 2024 —Z =+ _F=+—H

24 EXEFEE(E)

HE (&)
FEEEREBA (E)
(c) HEHHEE

AEEREHHEERARCEAR
M AEE (BN ERK A S
REEBAT —EARAT XA
THEEREESZENEE)

RMEENEEFRERMANRE
AOERER A -

RERHMEHEE
BRERARTE

CREENNTHERRF D BRERLRE
HAAFE  BAFEFARGBEZERK
s R R A FEFARS -

TREENNTEARNOBET R
BEANBERENTFEMASEERE
REBENEBER - RAUBEARE
OB AEERLEATABRENRE
KOZEBEREETTNENE B RIKFIR
REWERIN AEENFREQTFE
M IR A FEFABENEHE
E)RGUAFESHEE - T [
SR AHBR TEEABEKSD
FAEEEREERERERDENE
ZRWFIARERREZBEMBRE
ERIE16RBEENR B ERFE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
ISR MEE (8)
31 December 2024 —ZE—plE+—H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETHHE(E

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a
business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows, while
financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding
to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

104

(Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’'s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. WWhen it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset
to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs"”) for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.
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(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs
are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for
credit losses expected over the remaining life of the
exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECLs).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in
credit risk when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 1 year past due. The Group
has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption
of default based on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group’s credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of financial
assets over 90 days past due. However, the Group
may also consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group.

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
g R M (8

24 EXEFEE(E)

TREERE ()
—RA%

B EEBBENMERBETTHER - 8
RBEPZERRLBEEE L NNEER
B BHIEEEEMAERAREKI12(EA
AERENENFHELENEEBRO2
EATEBEEER) FHERE - HREH
FHIREBEEMNEERR  BAHE
15 BB 18 e SR H ) R R 5 iR T IR B 18
B TRENSHARUERE (2HE
HEEEHE) -

RERSE BH > NEBERFE B M5 E
RESBRTANGEERRESBEEMN
B AREBNREAHeRT AL
ZENRREIEERD LS T A
EZRHORBETLER  AEEEZE
BEFMNHTUBENKARKE TS
BEAASEMNER  BRERESL KRBT
B - ARERREARNNRAMI0K
LR EERBRERZEM -

AEEHKEONTBI FNEREE
BIEER - AEBERBAENENE
# o BRAKENEERBRZEH AR
BMHORNA LN EREENE LA
T REBHAORELHEE - A -
RETHBERT - BABBHINEBERBER
AEE A AR BERIIAEE R
RIBEAERKEAREES NS REE
AEBETAERRZEREERY



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
ISR MEE (8)
31 December 2024 —ZE—plE+—H=+—H

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETHHE(E

(Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREERME (&)
General approach (Continued) —R B = (&)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade and bills receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.
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Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit F—EE — SRITAEBYRERN
risk has not increased significantly since KA E R fe oK 5 &
initial recognition and for which the loss - BEEEEERNA
allowance is measured at an amount ER12EABHEE
equal to 12-month ECLs BENSETE

Stage 2 —  Financial instruments for which credit FREE — SIAEBYRERR
risk has increased significantly since EERREZEM B
initial recognition but that are not credit- BEEREeMEER
impaired financial assets and for which HEBRERASZNE
the loss allowance is measured at an HEMEEBENERE
amount equal to lifetime ECLs A=

Stage 3 —  Financial assets that are credit-impaired E=EER — RREBEHEEREN
at the reporting date (but that are not PREE(ETREE
purchased or originated credit-impaired) SR EERME)  H
and for which the loss allowance is EEREREEN 20
measured at an amount equal to lifetime BHEEBENSRET
ECLs =

Simplified approach {5 E

For trade and bills receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
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(Continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of payables, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables
and financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 EXRETHHE(E

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the special
identification basis and, in the case of semi-finished
products and finished products, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and
short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity
of generally within three months that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks and short term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.
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(Continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that
it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed. Government grants
related to income are presented as other income in
profit or loss.
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(Continued)
Revenue recognition Wi R
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEFEHHWE

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration
is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
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of financing the transfer of goods or services to the BHERNRE - Wik E W IER IR
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured BstE - EARE XA - MR E

at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between
the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. For a contract where the period
between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of
a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a) Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the products.

(b) Provision of maintenance services

Revenue from the provision of maintenance
services is recognised over the scheduled period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or the a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the related
goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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(Continued)
Employee benefits EERF
Pension schemes BIREFTE

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund (the “MPF") retirement benefit scheme
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plans

The Group's statutory obligation to pay long service
payment in Hong Kong is a defined benefit plan. The
cost of providing benefits relating to long service
payment is determined using the projected unit credit
actuarial valuation method. The liability recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position in
respect of long service payment is the net obligation,
representing the present value of the future long
service payment benefits reduced by entitlements from
accrued benefits arising from MPF contributions made
by the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Finance costs

Finance costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends and special dividends are recognised as
liabilities when they are approved by the shareholders
in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’'s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority
to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability
when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items
are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 ERETTHEE

(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in
line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on
the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance,
the Group determines the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities
of these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss is translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.
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(Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or
loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options. The Group applies
judgement in evaluating whether or not to exercise
the option to renew or terminate the lease. That is, it
considers all relevant factors that create an economic
incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control
and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise
the option to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g.,
construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

The Group includes the renewal period as part of the
lease term for leases of the Properties due to the
significance of these assets to its operations. These
leases have a short non-cancellable period (i.e., one to
five years) and there will be a significant negative effect
on production if a replacement is not readily available.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends

The Group's determination as to whether to accrue
for withholding taxes arising from the distribution of
dividends from subsidiaries according to the relevant
tax jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the
timing of the payment of the dividends. Management
considered that it is not probable that the Group's
subsidiaries in Mainland China will distribute retained
profits in the foreseeable future, and accordingly no
provision for withholding tax was made. Where the
final outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts originally rewarded, the difference will impact
the deferred tax provision in the period in which the
difference arises.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the
level of future taxable profits, together with future tax
planning strategies.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in
respect of tax losses of HK$47,558,000 (2023:
HK$21,552,000) carried forward. These losses related
to subsidiaries that have a history of losses, have not
expired, and may not be used to offset taxable income
elsewhere in the Group. The subsidiaries have neither
any taxable temporary difference nor any tax planning
opportunities available that could partly support the
recognition of these losses as deferred tax assets. On
this basis, the Group has determined that it cannot
recognise deferred tax assets on the tax losses carried
forward.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Deferred tax assets (Continued)

If the Group had been able to recognise all
unrecognised deferred tax assets, the profit and equity
would have increased by HK$10,658,000. Further
details on deferred taxes are disclosed in note 23 to the
financial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade and
bills receivables

The Group makes allowances on receivables based on
assumptions about the risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of the reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
amount of trade and bills receivables and the expected
credit loss allowance in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed. Further details of the trade
and bills receivables are given in note 17 to the financial
statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR"”) to measure lease liabilities.
The IBR is the rate of interest that the Group would
have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a
similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects
what the Group “would have to pay"”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available
(such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing
transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect
the terms and conditions of the lease (for example,
when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using
observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when
available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit
rating).

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

Write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
made based on the estimated net realisable value
of the inventories. The assessment of the provision
required involves management judgement and
estimates on market conditions. Where the actual
outcome or expectation in future is different from the
original estimate, such differences will have an impact
on the carrying amounts of inventories and the write-
down and reversal of write-down of inventories in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.
Further details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of
thermal imaging products and services, self-stabilised
imaging products and services and general aviation
products and services. Information reported to the
Group's chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of
the Group as a whole as the Group's resources
are integrated and no discrete operating segment
information is available. Accordingly, no operating
segment information is presented.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

4.

AEEEZRERBEAKNEER MR
% BREREEmRKRBFNERMZE
Zm &R o BLEIR D B MAA A
AEETBLERRAZHNER &
PRARBZERELEXE  HAKE
MERKEERS AN EA ANB LS
DEER e Bt WEZIEENFE
o

i EE R

(a) REIIBEFHWS

2024 2023

—E A —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FETT

Mainland China R B A 3 190,459 212,584
Hong Kong and Macau 8 KB PY 61,725 44,761
Overseas BN 5,565 6,692
Total st 257,749 264,037

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

bt i es B R TIRIE R P AT L
&I‘ o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

4.

(b) Non-current assets (b) FRBEE
2024 2023
ol 11 3 —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Mainland China == N aNpe) 8,170 5,942
Hong Kong EFiB 8,165 6,359
Total FEE 16,335 12,301

The non-current assets information above is
based on the locations of the assets and excludes
deferred tax assets.

Information about major customers

Revenue derived from sales to customers which
individually amounted to over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group during the years ended 31 December
2024 and 2023 is as follows:

LAt IEREEEE M TIRIEEEPT
FEHIEL  TERERLERBREE °

IREFEHR

REBEZE_ZE_NFER-_FT_=F+_A
=t BHIEFE  BAREEAEEAK
=B 10% 2B PHEMSWRIT ¢

2024 2023

—E U —EC-=4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Customer A ZEA 38,119 67,183
Customer B =FEB 32,087 N/A @A *

Customer C 2EC N/A FiE A * 27,173

The corresponding revenue from this customer is not disclosed as the
revenue individually did not account for 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the respective period.
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5.

Was - EAUA R WS

NET
An analysis of revenue, other income and gains, net is Was - H AR FEITAT
as follows:
Revenue Wy 325
2024 2023
=F-mE —F—_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Thermal imaging products and services #ik & 2 o & RS
— Sale of goods Nete — HEEmER 56,903 56,766
— Rendering of maintenance — REHEEREES
services Nowe B 13,037 15,012
69,940 71,778
Self-stabilised imaging products and B2 E IR E M ARTS
services
— Sale of goods Nete — HEEmER 36,509 39,674
— Rendering of maintenance — REEEREES
services Nowe B 19,907 4,446
56,416 44,120
General aviation products and services @Rt Z=E @R RS
— Sale of goods Nete A — HEEEMEr 127,731 145,304
— Rendering of maintenance — REEEREES
services Nowe B 1,150 1,253
128,881 146,557
Others Efb 2,512 1,582
Total FEE 257,749 264,037
Note ™ The revenue from the sale of goods was recognised at a point in time. MER SHES T U ES T FE R B RERR o
Nee®: The revenue from the rendering of maintenance services was HEE R A RS U o T B R R AR ©
recognised over time.
BFERBRAT /2024 F3;
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5.

126

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, 5. s - HttW A R WS F5E (])
NET (Continued)
Performance obligations BHEE
The performance obligation for the sale of goods HEEMMNBHNEARRNEYRIEST
is satisfied upon delivery of the goods and the WETT - MR EERENELNEFL
performance obligation for the rendering of BiE & 12 (1 B 755 T s BeF FE) HE 78 T 2B 52 0 B
maintenance services is satisfied over time as services fre
are rendered.
The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the RTZA=+—BoEEFHEBHEL
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or (REZRBETHI D RETMETT) B
partially unsatisfied) as at 31 December are as follows: RGEFIAT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaExT FAT
Amounts expected to be recognised TFEEI R AWM SEE ¢
as revenue:
Within one year —F R 7,426 7,569
After one year — &% 6,225 9,007
Total A=t 13,651 16,576

For contracts of the sale of goods with original
expected duration of less than one year, the Group
has elected not to disclose information about the
remaining performance obligations. All considerations
from contracts with customers with original expected
duration of not less than one year have been included
in the transaction prices and, therefore, were included
in the information disclosed in the above table.
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A TS SRR B 5E (4D

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS,
NET (Continued)

Was - EAUA R s = (|)

Other income and gains, net Hgg A R Wz F5
2024 2023
—E_NE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FET FHIT
Bank interest income RITHEHA 6 7,725 4,279
Government grants* BT B * 223 269
Recovery of written-off trade W [e1 E 35 2 5 FE W IR
receivables 6 8 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries H&HE AR 26 4 -
Others HAity 229 365
Total @t 8,189 4,903
< Government grants mainly represented subsidies obtained from * B 6 B £ B 45 B8 b 5 BT 2R P ELS AY fE

local government authorities. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
contingencies relating to these grants.

By o S2 5 BY I BRI R s A R IR -

REZERERAE /2024 FR

127



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBIAEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBENKRBATBEIENR(GTA)
(crediting): AN & IR ZE R -
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ks FHET FAT
Cost of inventories sold BEERFEXAE 165,416 173,646
Cost of services provided RHARFS A AR 15,334 8,962
Depreciation of property, W R R EETE
plant and equipment 13 1,582 1,817
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (& EEEENE 14(a) 6,918 7,137
Amortisation of intangible assets /& E s 15 290 338
Research and development costs A2 AN 11,476 10,672
Impairment losses on financial TREEREBIEFHE
assets, net 17 6,552 12,689
Recovery of written-off trade W el 2 58 B 5 e MR IE
receivables 5 (8) S
Provision for inventory REFERE T
obsolescence, net 16 4,724 291
Lease payments not included TerAHEAENE
in the measurement of lease M E K
liabilities 14(c) 92 -
Employee benefit expense EERBFRX

(excluding directors’ and chief (TEEEER
executive officer's remuneration 1748 & 57 B

(note 8)): (Hf5E8)) -
Wages and salaries ITERFGS 47,510 43,051
Pension scheme contributions BRIRNEET B
(defined contribution (EEBHREE) *
scheme)* 6,522 6,450
Total @5t 54,032 49,501
Auditor’s remuneration % BT 7 B 1,280 1,280
Foreign exchange differences, M H, 2= R RE <
net** 4,601 4,947
Loss on disposal of items of HEME - BE &
property, plant and equipment XA A R 3 136
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries kAU =SNG gy 26 (4) -
Bank interest income RITF BUA 5 (7,725) (4,279)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

6. LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BR¥iAIEE (&)

* There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as
the employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

** The foreign exchange differences, net is included in “Other expenses”
(2023: "Other expenses”) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

* BERE RIS AT AL E ((EAET) AR
HRB B KT

> ERERIFEAGABREEMEEKE
RPN TEMFASX] (ZZ2==F: [H@H

and other comprehensive income. x1) e
FINANCE COSTS 7. B
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MK ASITAT -
2024 2023
—E-NUF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHTT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFNE 645 576
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 8. EENRTHART N

OFFICER’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive officer's remuneration
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a),
(b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

REEEBEXHMAR R E (M5
A ERES EHRRN(T EmRRN)
A5 R A& B 5 383(1)(@) * (b) * (¢) & (f)
AR AR (RBEEENRER) RPIE
2HWBEHNFAES RITRAEZFH®N
T~

2024 2023
—E_FE .

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHxT FHAT

Fees wE 378 378
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EBNEYEF

in kind 7,419 6,819

Performance related bonuses FIRFARATEAT 1,700 880

Pension scheme contributions RIREEH B 18 18

Total fees and other emoluments e & H th B 45 9,515 8,095

WEERERAT /2024 F5)
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31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 8 EERTHARFM (&)
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BYFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive FRMBLIERITEETI RS
directors during the year were as follows: o
2024 2023
—ECImEF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Mr. NIU Zhongjie HeEE T A 126 126
Ms. YEUNG Hiu Fu Helen xRt 126 126
Mr. HOU Min EIRAEE 126 126
Total st 378 378
There were no other emoluments payable to the FABEEMENEIERNTES
independent non-executive directors during the M e (ZE—=F : 8o

year (2023: Nil).

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) HMITEERITHASR
officer
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
2024 in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e RBER ®ENE BikE
—E-mE ENER AL BE-hE 0 Pk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching BRELE 2,968 760 - 3,728
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik* FENLL* 2,738 720 - 3,458
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai RS E 1,713 220 18 1,951
Total 4=t 7,419 1,700 18 9,137
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B &R R M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 8. EERTHARGM(E)
OFFICER’S REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive (b) BITEERITHAR (&)
officer (Continued)

Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
2023 in kind bonuses  contributions remuneration
e 2Rk EhE| Rk
ZTI=HE EWEH TE4L FTEIfR ez
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T THL THT
Mr. YEUNG Lun Ching imiaiE 2,443 340 - 2,783
Ms. WONG Kwan Lik* RN 2,745 320 - 3,065
Mr. YEUNG Chun Tai BIRRLE 1,631 220 18 1,869
Total Bt 6,819 880 18 7,717
@ Ms. WONG Kwan Lik is also the chief executive officer of the @ FEAZTMARREITIREBE -
Company.
There was no arrangement under which a director REAN - BEEEEEHEXRE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEEAAHMN e 2 (ZE==45F :
during the year (2023: Nil). ) o
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the RER » ANEE W FEFE E L TH
Group to the directors as an inducement to join or B 1 & 0 A AN 52 B 5 pn AR S B &
upon joining the Group or as compensation for MRS EARBRENEE (=S
loss of office (2023: Nil). T=F ) e
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. LhEBREFEE
The five highest paid employees during the year FANhER=FHEERE=25F%F (=
included three directors (2023: three directors), details TF:=REF) HEMNFEH
of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 to the RETERRMIES - FARNGBF ITME(=ZF
financial statements. Details of the remuneration for Z=F: MB) WA RAEEHITHAE
the year of the remaining two (2023: two) highest HHORSFHEENFMFENT

paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive officer of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHIT
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EANEYER
in kind 3,659 3,810
Performance related bonuses FIRFBRATEAT 641 353
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIHR 18 18
Total #ast 4,318 4,181
The number of non-director and non-chief executive FIAA T 5 BNZE B Y FEEE & M 3ETT IR AR
officer highest paid employees whose remuneration HrmxaHEEHEWT

fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

EEHE
2024 2023
—E-E — T4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 /& T2 1,500,0007%5 7T = 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T 2 2,500,000 78 7T 2 -
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 # 7T & 3,000,000 7 7T — 1
Total 4Bt 2 2
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
ISR MEE (8)
31 December 2024 —ZE—plE+—H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX 10. FriS%

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis
on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions
in which subsidiaries of the Group are domiciled and
operate. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the
Cayman lIslands, the Company is not subject to any
income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group, which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable
profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed
at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Pursuant to the PRC Income Tax Law and the
respective regulations, corporate income tax has been
provided at the rate of 256% (2023: 25%) on the taxable
income of the subsidiaries operating in Mainland China
during the year, except for certain subsidiaries of
the Group, which are qualified small and micro-sized
enterprises under preferential tax treatment. Pursuant
to the preferential tax policy, taxable income not
exceeding RMB3,000,000 shall be calculated at 25%
(2023: 25%) of taxable income with a reduced tax rate
of 20%.

AEEBAREREERAEE KB R
BIREMAR R EMAERDEERE LK
KEZMHEMBAAFHR - RIEFRES
BEZERERA - NRRBAGHEM
PRS®L ©

ERNFRRERBATE S Z Gat ERE
T AIIR165% (ZE =4 :165%) Z
HEELBABFESREE  BRAEEK
—ER B ARSI - :ZHI B A B AR AR
FISHBMEFNETHNEERELR - 2K
BARAE 20000008 (T - =4F:
2,000,000 7% 7T ) ) & 2R B s A Bl &= &
826% (=—F - =4 :825%) ' #h [HY
JERBURMIE R 5165% (Z T = =4 :
16.5%) °

BIEFBIATSEE ARG - DEAT
SR E R F A RLIE S B A A & 8 i B
N ERFRUAIL25% (T = =4 :
25%) 2 REMELEE  RASENS
FHBARIN  ZEHBARAHEE
BBUR THA BB /NEFI % - BIB
R ERBER - TR\ AR 3,000,000
TCHY FERR TR W AR FERR TR R A B9 25% (=
T_=F:25%) T E - RERARED
20% ©°

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f

133



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

10. INCOME TAX (Continued) 10. FRSH (&)
2024 2023
—E_NE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current BNHEA 3,824 2,562
Deferred (note 23) BAE (M5 23) (638) (3,332)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year FRFIBER S (%) 458 3,186 (770)
A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit) applicable BARRE RERE DM B A R ML
to loss before tax at the statutory rates for the RS E B NTE Rl ARE R 2 0K TE B R 5T
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority ERFHAEE ERFERY (ER)
of its subsidiaries are domiciled and/or operate to the ERERHRAE 2 HRERY(KR)
tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rates, and a ZHE URERHE(AVAERK) &
reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory ERBERZEERNT
tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:
2024 2023
—E-E —Z-=F
HK$'000 %  HK$'000 %
TEx THT
Loss before tax BRAIEE (392) (4,366)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5%  BEEH R 16.5% 18 2 HiE (65) 16.5 (720) 16.5
Effect on different taxation rate in R B R R R E 2 72
Mainland China (2,675) 682.4 (1,837) 421
Lower tax rates enacted by local M B S R R B R i &
tax authorities 115 (29.3) (373) 85
Income not subject to tax BN (1,249) 318.6 (455) 10.4
Expenses not deductible for tax kil s 1,145 (292.2) 264 6.1)
Tax losses not recognised MAEANBER 5915 (1,508.8) 2,351 (53.8)
Total tax expense/(credit) for the year — FRKERY /(%) #5E 3,186 (812.8) (770) 17.6
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

11. DIVIDENDS 11. RKE
2024 2023
—E_NE —EC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaET FAT
Proposed final — HK1.35 cents (2023: #& R H — SR AR 1.35 75110
HK1.35 cents) per ordinary share ZE =4 0 1.35%0) 5,400 5,400
Proposed special — HK2.70 cents EERR — SRE B 270710
(2023: HK1.35 cents) per ordinary ZEZ=F 1.35%)
share 10,800 5,400
16,200 10,800
The proposed final dividend for the year and special NEEEZARPEEREFRIREAFA
dividend are subject to the approval of the Company’s ARREREERRBF RS HER -
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general FAER °
meeting.
12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. AEEEREEABRLER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is
based on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 400,000,000 (2023:
400,000,000) outstanding during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per share are
based on:

1SN
BE

EREABENEAF AR L EER
BEAEBGEFRBERFEFANETE
4N #9400,000,000 ( = & = = F:
400,000,000 %) 3 38 A% 79 hn e F 15 % 25
ATE -

AEERBZE-_E-_NER-_T-_=F
T+ A=+ HLFETECBEITNE
FEEE L mA -

EREARBEEEEIERATIERG
=

Loss 2024 2023
Bia —ENE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss attributable to ordinary equity STEFRREAR RS EE
holders of the parent, used in the FTAME AR E B
basic and diluted loss per share =B AERER
calculations (3,464) (3,263)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B HRFRMEE ()

31 December 2024 —FE—pIF+{+—HA=+—H

12. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO 12. BRARIEBREHEABLER
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE &8 (&)
PARENT (Continued)
Shares Number of shares
R4 R B
2024 2023
ZBINE T =F
"000 ‘000
T TR
Weighted average number of STEFRER R EEEE
ordinary shares used in the basic and  FrF )& BAR HOfE
diluted loss per share calculations SEHRRER 400,000 400,000
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERRXE
Furniture,
fixtures Equipment
Leasehold  andoffice  Plantand for rental Motor
Buildings improvements equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
HE 4B ZER R
B NEEE BLERE  BEREE  BERE RE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR TiEn TiEx T TiEn TR
e
31 December 2024 —B-ME+-A=+-H
Cost: FRA :
At 1 January 2024 RZE-ME-F—H 1,775 2,821 2,591 3,969 1,399 1,548 20,109
Additions HE - - 17 473 - - 490
Disposal HE = = (42) = (1,380) = (1,422
Disposal of subsidiaries MERB A (i 26)
(note 26) - (1,068) (90) - - - (1,158)
Exchange realignment Rk (185) (39) (52) (136) (19) (6) (437)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZME+ZA=1-A 7,590 1,720 2,424 4,306 - 1542 17,582

Accumulated depreciation: Z:tiE

At 1 January 2024 R=Z-mE-A-A 3,223 2,340 2,355 3,497 1,259 819 13,493
Provided during the year FiE 325 336 95 226 138 462 1,582
Disposal hrf - - (39) - (1,380) - (1,419)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBA (i 26)

note 26 - (1,068) (57) - - - (1,125)
Exchange realignment EHA% (107) (39) (49) (117) (17) (2 (331)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mE+-A=1-H 3441 1,569 2,305 3,606 - 1219 12,200

Net book value: REFE:

At 31 December 2024 RZZ-ME+-A=1-H 4149 151 19 700 - 263 5,382
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. Y% - BERRXE(HE)
(Continued)
Furniture,
fixtures Equipment
Leasehold ~ and office Plant and for rental Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment  machinery purpose vehicles Total
HE KB RER FfE
BF WEEE  BAERE  BEREE  HEZRE RE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL ThL TiER

31 December 2023 “E-=#+-f=t-H
Cost: A
At 1 January 2023 R=F-=#-F—-H 7,945 28713 2,545 3,691 7,563 1,286 25903
Additions NE - - 101 387 - 510 9%
Disposal HE = 9 9 (1) (5,986) (241) (6,246
Exchange realignment BT (170) (37) (46) (108) (178) (7) (546)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=#+-A=1-H 1,775 2827 2,591 3,969 1,39 1,548 20,109
Accumulated depreciation: 2:E:
At 1 January 2023 R=E-=%#-f-H 2,979 1,920 2,289 3418 6,987 622 18215
Provided during the year FREE 331 466 118 178 281 443 1,817
Disposal e = (9) 9 (1) (5,845) (241) (6,105)
Exchange realignment ERBE (87) (37) (43) (98) (164) (B) (434)
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=%+ZA=1-H 3223 2,340 2,355 3497 1,259 819 13,493
Net book value: TREFE -
At 31 December 2023 RZZZ=4+ZA=1-H 4,552 487 236 472 140 729 6,616
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

14. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for the Properties with
lease terms of 1 to 5 years. Generally, the Group is
restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use

14. HE
REBEREBEA
AEEREERSYENTEELY  BE
HiIR A1 E6F - —RM = AEETE
EREBENUINEEREHRAEEE -
(a) FEHEESE

FRAAKEEBEEENREER

assets and the movements during the year are as FEFHAT ¢
follows:
Properties
ZEYE
HK$'000
FH&T
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—HF—H 9,317
Additions NE 3,088
Depreciation charge HES (7,137)
Modification EH| (43)
Exchange realignment bE X TR (78)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-ZE-_=F+-_A=1+—HxK
1 January 2024 —E-mFE—H—H 5,147
Additions NE 13,443
Depreciation charge nEs (6,918)
Modification 15T (13)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26) HEMEAE (MFE26) (731)
Exchange realignment FE H AR (124)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZZWHE+_A=+—H 10,804
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

A TS SRR B 5E (4D

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

14. LEASES (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the

14.

HE (&)

FEEEREBA (H)

(b) HE&E

FREERENRAEREDIER

movements during the year are as follows: R
2024 2023
—ETomE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BHEREE 5,269 9,524
New leases HEE 13,443 3,088
Accretion of interest recognised FERRERHF] S
during the year 645 576
Modification EH) (13) (43)
Payments INE:N (7,442) (7,798)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26)  HEH B AT (ME26) (739) -
Exchange realignment FE 5 X (130) (78)
Carrying amount at 31 December RA+—=—A=+—H®EAE 11,033 5,269
Analysed into: =K
Current portion BNERER 7> 5,007 4,211
Non-current portion FERNERER 6,026 1,058

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

HEBBENIHAITERBHRE

B 5t 33 FR I EE ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. FHE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEEREBEA (B)
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) EEZFPHERAEBEFHENEEN
to leases are as follows: N
2024 2023
“ENF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Interest on lease liabilities HEEEFE 645 576
Depreciation charge of FREEETES
right-of-use assets 6,918 7,137
Expense relating to BREEHHEENRY
short-term lease 92 -
Total amount recognised in EETPRERAARE
profit or loss 7,655 7,713
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in (d) MEMIRE R BEEE ISR E M
note 27(c) to the financial statements. FE27(c) P EE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B&EE

Intellectual
Computer property
software license Total
HI5E
BiEE M4 EfESTH st
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET FE T
31 December 2024 —E_NE
+=A=t+—H
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of RZ-—ZT Py
accumulated amortisation — B —HHEIRAN
PR 25T 125 413 538
Additions NE 153 - 153
Amortisation provided FNEHERE

during the year (125) (165) (290)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENE AR (FizE26)

(note 26) - (248) (248)
Exchange realignment b 5 A= (4) - (4)
At 31 December 2024 MR- _NF

+=—A=+—8H 149 - 149
At 31 December 2024: MN-ETE-NF

+=—A=+—8:
Cost AR 1,602 - 1,602
Accumulated amortisation Bt (1,453) - (1,453)
Net carrying amount REFE 149 - 149
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B 2 (48

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 15. B EE (&)

Intellectual
Computer property
software license Total
HE
B EERERTA] MEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FAIT FATT
31 December 2023 —EC-=F
+=—A=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of R=—Z—=4%
accumulated amortisation —A— BB
kR 2T 290 593 883
Amortisation provided FNEHERE
during the year (158) (180) (338)
Exchange realignment BEE 5, S X (7) - (7)
At 31 December 2023 R _=%F
+=—A=+—8H 125 413 538
At 31 December 2023: RIE_=%F
+=ZA=+—8:
Cost BN 1,500 900 2,400
Accumulated amortisation Sty (1,375) (487) (1,862)
Net carrying amount REFE 125 413 538
16. INVENTORIES 16. F&
2024 2023
—EMEF ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET T
Components and consumables B ROBRE 1,051 667
Semi-finished products * B R 4,427 7,313
Finished products SRR 72,114 65,698
77,592 73,678
Less: Provision o B (7,119) (2,455)
Total FEE 70,473 71,223

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
provision for inventory obsolescence, net recognised
at cost of sales amounted to HK$4,724,000 (2023:
HK$291,000).

HE_ZT_-_NMF+_A=+—HLIHF
B REEKAERNRETERE
HEA 54,72400008 T( —F = = F ¢
291,000 7T) ©
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Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. EZERRHERERE

2024 2023

—TE_NUF —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

F&T FET

Trade receivables 2 5N RIE 53,174 69,747
Bills receivable EWERE 5,588 2,104
58,762 71,851

Impairment RE (20,176) (14,146)
Total BT 38,586 57,705

The Group’'s trading terms with its customers are AREFHEPFHNESERITITEAEZE -
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where WMHEFPKRIN FTRE—RAFE LN
payment in advance is normally required. The credit e EEHBER—ZE=EH - 8EFE
period is generally one to three months. Each customer FPHUHREESEERE - NEBRERR
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to R EREERKHE  TEREEEE
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables EBURUEEREEERR - @ A& #%
and has a credit control policy to minimise credit risk. HEREEABTEHRN - BHEKK
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior B EWRSEEASTTE -
management. Trade and bills receivables are non-

interest-bearing.

RBEMRIZBEZBHITNE R
R MRS B RO RRE D AT A0 T (FBR &S

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice

date and net of loss allowance, is as follows: B -
2024 2023
—EomE O —FE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
Less than 3 months PR=EAH 18,561 24,310
3 to 6 months =ZXEA 3,830 1,574
6 to 12 months VANE N ek S 1,839 3,448
Over 1 year —EP 14,356 28,373
Total FEE 38,586 57,705
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17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment
of trade and bills receivables are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

EZRBFEARERRE (F)

5 8 R T M TR 0 9L (L 1R
BEORBIERIT -

2024 2023

—E-NE —E =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At beginning of year REH] 14,146 2,272
Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEEFEE (FizEe) 6,552 12,689
Amount written-off as uncollectible B s %0 B 448 - (810)
Exchange realignment b H T (522) (5)
At end of year RER 20,176 14,146

An impairment analysis of trade and bills receivables
is performed at each reporting date using a provision
matrix to measure ECLs. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade and bills
receivables are written off if past due for more than
three years and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Impairment provision amounting to HK$18,670,000
(2023: HK$12,477,000) is provided for trade and bills
receivables from certain customers at the end of
the reporting period after taking into account of the
financial position of these customers.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 7 3 3R B = ()

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

17. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 17. EZREWRIEREWERE (&)
(Continued)
Except for the trade receivables from certain customers BREETENZEFPHNESEWKRIE
mentioned above, the remaining trade and bills O BERE 5 IR GRIE R BN E R BE R
receivables are related to a lot of diversified customers EZTEEFPER  UTAKREEHRA
and set out below is the information about the credit BEEEENFSRE S EWRIERE
risk exposure on the Group's remaining trade and bills WEE 2 EERBBOER

receivables using a provision matrix:
As at 31 December 2024 R=-B-ME+=-A=+—8
Pastdue  Past due

more than more than
Pastdue 1yearbut 2yearsbut Pastdue

within within within over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
aNEA AEBR
ral:t —F{8 WEE  RHEBR
L 3 DRME PR=E =f st
ECLs rate T‘EE@EEEE@ 0%—0.5% 2.3% 11.1% 47.4% 100.0% 0%—5.2%
Gross carrying amount FREEE(THET)

(HK$'000) 27,986 4,516 908 19 1,180 34,609
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEEBR(TAT) 112 104 101 9 1,180 1,506
As at 31 December 2023 N-—'B—-—=%+=-A=+—H

Pastdue  Pastdue
more than ~ more than
Pastdue 1yearbut 2yearsbut  Pastdue
within within within over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 3 years Total
8 —&{E WER  AHEA
ME SR-F  IRRE IREE =F it
ECLs rate BHEEFER 0%-1.0% 2.5% 8.0% 33.3% 100.0% 0%-3.7%
Gross carrying amount ERAE(TET)

(HK$'000) 37,109 7,057 985 1,037 709 46,897

ECLs (HK$'000) BHEEBE(TET) 360 176 79 345 709 1,669
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31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

18. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 18. BAIMIE - RERHMEWIE

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
—E-E B4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Prepayments SEANE O 5,790 8,143
Deposits and other receivables & R EAth W k0B 4,216 5,602
Total st 10,006 13,745
The above balances are unsecured and interest-free. LR REERE RS o
The financial assets included in the above balances LR EnNefEER TR
relate to receivables for which there were no recent BEATHROHESBENEKNKIES
history of default and past due amounts. As at 31 e R_E_NER T _=F1T_H
December 2024 and 2023, the loss allowance was =+—H BEREEHEFERRE -
assessed to be minimal.
19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19. RERREEZEY
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Cash and bank balances e RIRITLHEER 111,447 92,446
Time deposits TEHRTF X 141,016 150,896
Cash and cash equivalents HEeRREEEY 252,463 243,342
At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank RBEMBR REEBUARBEZR
balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted & RIRITH B /61,932,000 L (=F
to HK$61,932,000 (2023: HK$64,638,000). The RMB is Z =% : 64,638,000 7) - ARMBAA]
not freely convertible into other currencies, however, BHRLBREMER - Af - BE(PEA
under Regulations of the PRC on Foreign Exchange REMBINEE BIEHD REE - SE
Administration and Regulations on the Administration of REBERAE)  AEEAFERERE
Settlement, Sales and Payments of Foreign Exchange, EITIMNEZEBHRITIEA R L BMAKHE

the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other B o
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.
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19.

20.

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits earn
interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

19. RERBASEEY (F)

RITREBEBETRRITEREIZEEHF
KEDAE - ERERFRESENTE
HAT AR R BRI B o RITAE SR TF DR
AT B0 8 8 A RO ERAY AT SEERTT ©

20. EZENRIE

RBEMRIREZBMITNE S RN
HRIBMEREDITIAT -

2024 2023

—EmEF —E_=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 1 month LR —1E A 787 1,815
1 to 3 months —Z=={@A4 2,798 2,695
Over 3 months =@EAMNE 10,744 12,502
Total qa=t 14,329 17,012

The trade payables are interest-free and are normally
settled ranging from 30 to 90 days.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

B HRNFRBENTERBEEMNIR30
£90H -

21. HitEARERETER

2024 2023

—E-NUF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Other payables Hfth fE 5 3R0E 3,968 4,958
Accruals Bt E R 14,359 13,977
Total FEE 18,327 18,935

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within one year.

H A BT 8RB R —F R
fih o
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B RS AR M aE (48D

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

148

Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the
advance payments made by customers while the
underlying goods or services are yet to be provided.

Changes in the contract liabilities during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

22.

BHAE

AEENENBEIZRNRELPBMNRK
T8 > MARREEE fn s ARFS R AR IR -

REBEZE_ZE_NFEFER-_FT_=F+_A
=t+—HLFENENEEZEHHEFHN
TS @

2024 2023
—EMEF —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FA&T
At beginning of year REH] 20,321 15,460
Revenue recognised that was REARTAG N A ELER
included in the contract liabilities B R ER
balance at beginning of year (14,816) (14,249)
Increases due to cash received, HEWIR2mEm - TEER
excluding amounts recognised FAE R AR EE
as revenue during the year 16,870 19,110
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26) HEMEAE (M7E26) (610) -
At end of year REXR 21,765 20,321
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23. DEFERRED TAX 23. EZLEBIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets REHIBEEREERTAMEEHIT :

during the year are as follows:
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBBEEE
2024 —EMF

Depreciation
allowance in

excess of
Right-of-use related
assets depreciation Total
HBERETE
EREEE ZITERE st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
At 1 January 2024 RZZE_NF—H—H 1,047 56 1,103
Deferred tax charged/ R E/GEA) FREB

(credited) to profit or loss 7 iEFEFE (Fi3E10)

during the year (note 10) 1,305 (42) 1,263
Disposal of subsidiaries H &S B S~ &) (B 5% 26)

(note 26) (121) = (121)
Exchange realignment PE 328 (31) - (31)
At 31 December 2024 R-ZBE_MF

+=—HA=+—8H 2,200 14 2,214
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B RS AR M aE (48D

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

150

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. IEAERIE (&)
Deferred tax liabilities (Continued) FEEBEEE (E)
2023 —B-=f

Depreciation

allowance in
excess of
Right-of-use related
assets  depreciation Total
HREMEETE
EREEE 2T ERE wEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHIT FATT
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-_—F
+=—A=+—~ = 76 76
Effect of adoption of FEEgTE8
amendments to HKAS 12 125585 A2 & 1,777 - 1,777
At 1 January 2023 R-_ZE-_=F—H—H
(restated) (&e&E5) 1,777 76 1,853
Deferred tax credited to HAFERNBRZIELERE
profit or loss during the (f5E10)
year (note 10) (710) (20) (730)
Exchange realignment PE H, A% (20) = (20)
At 31 December 2023 RZEBE_=F
+=—A=+—H 1,047 56 1,103
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23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EEBIIE (&)
Deferred tax assets EEREEE
2024 —E-WEF
Provision for
inventories Losses
and trade available for
receivables offsetting
and against
written-off future
Lease oftrade  Unrealised taxable
liabilities  receivables profit profits Total
FERES
L RERE Mt AER S
MR E Hish RRERB
HEEE EIEKFE REREN  BAER &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

At 1 January 2024 R-Z-WE-F—H 1,075 3,575 1,529 5,357 11,536
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to A/ (HBE)ERBRZ

profit or loss during the year (note 10)  EERIE (FizE10) 1,331 1,678 (482) (626) 1,901
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26) HERBAR (i 26) (122) - - - (122)
Exchange realignment B AR (32) (137) - (151) (320)
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMEFZA=1—H 2,252 5,116 1,047 4,580 12,995
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31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

23. EERIE ()

Deferred tax assets (Continued) ELEBREE (&)
2023 —EC-=F
Provision for
inventories Losses
and trade available for
receivables offsetting
and against
written-off future
Lease oftrade  Unrealised taxable
liabilities  receivables profit profits Total
FERES
s aRE A RERE
WREHH RRIERT
HERRE EIRWGE  AERER  ENEER @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL THL TAL
At 31 December 2022 \_E-—F#+-A=1-H - 597 1638 5,039 7,274
Effect of adoption of amendments RNEESHENE 125 ETA
to HKAS 12 a7+ 1816 - - - 1816
At 1 January 2023 (restated) RZF==%-A-R(&E5) 1,816 597 1,638 5039 9,090
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit (1%8) /3t AERBEZ
or loss during the year (note 10) EERE (M 10) (721) 2,984 (109) 448 2,602
Exchange realignment [ 5 % (20) (6) - (130) (156)
At 31 December 2023 RZE-=F+-fA=1+-H 1,075 3,575 1,529 5,367 11,536
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31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

23. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 23. EEMHIE (E)
Deferred tax assets (Continued) EERIEEE (M)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets HEIME  ETEERBEEERAR
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of ERBBIRRREN - TRFHAEE
financial position. The following is an analysis of BIERRIBE SR ITAR B RE 2/ ¢

the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

2024 2023
—E-WE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FH&TT
Net deferred tax assets recognised  RiE4& BIEAAR R ERH
in the consolidated statement of BRI EEFE
financial position 10,795 10,498
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised 44 B #5441 3= fE:2 49
in the consolidated statement of RIEFIB B EFE
financial position (14) (65)
Total FEE 10,781 10,433
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a RIFER BB EMERE - A IZE )
10% (or a lower rate if there is a tax treaty between ERECEARRINRKE BT IR
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign BERE10% (B BNt EINE R & &
investors) withholding tax is levied on dividends e AR AT B BIFTRER
declared to foreign investors from the foreign EOFR)IBNF - ZHETH-_ZZENFE
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. —A—HRARN  WERAR-_ZTZTLF
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and TZRA=tT—BREENAET - BLA
applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group EBEMRFREAMKY 2 ZEHWB R
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends AEE—EEN\F—A—HEELZA
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Rk 2 B BB~ TR ES -

Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.
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23.

24.

154

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. In the opinion of
the directors, the Group's earnings will be retained
in Mainland China, so it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2024, the
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China was
approximately HK$666,000 (2023: HK$855,000).

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China
of HK$55,010,000 (2023: HK$29,873,000) that will
expire in three to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$33,064,000
(2023: HK$9,404,000) as at 31 December 2024 as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

23. EEHIE (&)

ELEBRAEEE (&)

RZZE-_NF+-_A=+—H  x5H
WARFEA R E R L BB R TBHFL
ZHBARZKELAEFEMNZEN
RERELHEB -EZRE A5B2Z
BAERENPREAM  WEEHRERQ
AIRABERARARE TS KiZzER
e RZFEZWF+=ZA=+—8H " &
RERBEANHHE AR ERNRREE
4 E84) 5666,0008 L( =T == F:
855,000/ 7C) °

AREBRFPERNME £ KBS
855,010,000 o( = T = = &
29,873,000 L) KR=ZZ2AF A
B DABKSHARRERBEF - K=
TE-WOE+-—A=+—8 WERH
JH E54833,064,000/8 T( =T = = 4 :
9,404,000 7 7T ) FE SR IE SE /i TH & B -
EXREHRBEEEZNBARE 2EE
—EB R WRBTARAIGEE ELER
Fism F AR S AT 8) A3 2 TR TE S 18 -

SHARE CAPITAL 4. R
2024 2023
—E- A —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FAT
Issued and fully paid: BETRHAR
400,000,000 (2023: 400,000,000) 400,000,000 A% ( =%
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 400,000,000 %) B AR EE
0.01 7o) E @R 4,000 4,000
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25. RESERVES 25. f#1&

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the financial statements.

Other reserve

The balance represented the aggregate paid-in capital of
the subsidiaries acquired, offset by investment costs in
subsidiaries of the Company during the reorganisation
of the Company in connection with the listing of the
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange.

Statutory surplus reserve

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the
Mainland China, the Company’s subsidiaries registered
in the PRC shall appropriate a certain percentage of
their net profit after tax (after offsetting any prior years’
losses) calculated under the accounting principles
generally applicable to the Mainland China enterprises
to the reserve fund. When the balance of this reserve
fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory surplus reserve
can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory
surplus reserve must be maintained at a minimum of
25% of the capital after these usages. After making
the appropriation to the statutory surplus reserve,
the Company’s subsidiaries may also appropriate
their profits for the year to the discretionary surplus
reserve upon approval by the board of directors or the
shareholders in a general meeting.

AEERANFREREBEFEZHBETER
RESHNMBRRTOREERE
REF

Hftufd e

% AERRR T U MY B 2 R BUR B A 48
B WARBMARBRO OB
METEARERRRMBERANRE
PR 3H o

EEBRHE

RIFFEANBRABEAEIOER - RPE
FE T B 7S 22 B B B 2 ) 2R 8 R A 1 A A
(BETMEFBRR)NETA D L&
EfEES  2EREBEPEAMER—
MEREHRAUGHE - EZREEESS
REEEREARHE0% - AEEE
TR EME M ER < X E RBRHEA B
EEHEFBERIEMERN - A - 0k
TERRFENERVARTNZERE
BERNED25% - HIETERBREBIE
HERE  ARFHNBARKESTE N
PR IRR A G L4t & TR A A HF A
R ERISE RS
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26. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 2 December 2024, the Group disposed of its entire
equity interests in Connax Education Limited, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
together with its equity interests in Dr X Academy of
Robotics and Coding Hong Kong Limited to Mr. YEUNG
Chun Tai, the executive director of the Company, at a
consideration of HK$1. The valuation of the business
is reviewed by an independent professional qualified
valuer.

Details of the net assets of the subsidiaries disposed

26.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

HEHE AT

RZZEZWNFEF+—A=H ' A&EEKE
RARFEEL2ENBRARH#SEHRES
RARNEBREERRNEBHEA
HER (BB ERAANBRELEFTA
RERMITESBIRRLE REE1HE
T X AERBILEES ERGERM
220 -

AEREDHEMBARNEEFEFS

of during the current year and the financial impacts are R igsr B aan T
summarised below:
2024
—E-o[E
Notes HK$'000
B s FHT
Net assets disposed of: BHEFEE :
Property and equipment e YN 13 33
Right-of-use assets CREEE 14(a) 731
Intangible asset B AE 15 248
Deferred tax assets B BEE 23 1
Amount due from a related party JE Uik BE B 5 k0B 1,251
Cash and bank balances B RIRTTHES 604
Trade receivables Z 5 U GRIA 17
Prepayments and deposit B RIE RS 172
Other payables and accruals H b A R IB R BT B (127)
Contract liabilities AHBE 22 (610)
Amounts due to related parties JRE A<t BB 5 TR 0A (1,786)
Lease liabilities HEaRE 14(b) (739)
Non-controlling interests FEPEIR = 201
Subtotal /N (4)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB A RKRE 5,6 4
Total consideration mRE —*
Satisfied by: AR AR
Cash Re —*
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26. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

27.

26. HEHEBAT (H&)

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash FRALENBARINER S RASEEY
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is MHEFREATAT -
as follows:
2024
—EomE
HK$°000
FHT
Cash consideration ReRE =%
Cash and bank balances disposed of BEHERS RIRITER (604)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries

FRLENBRARNRE LRSS
EBYR L FE (604)

@ The amount is less than HK$1,000.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$13,443,000 (2023: HK$3,088,000)
and HK$13,443,000 (2023: HK$3,088,000),
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements for

the Properties.

* 2R R1,00087T

27. ZREBRERERME

(a) FEHFREXS

FRNAEBRZEVERESR
N EREEERTAEAENIE
I8 & #2055l & 13,443,0007% TC
(== — = £ :3,088,000/ 7T )
13,443,000 (= = =
3,088,000/87T) °

HEERERA T / 2024 F3f
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

27. ZERERERME (H)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) RMEIFBHELNEEEE :
activities:
2024 —E-_E
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
HK$’'000
THET
At 1 January 2024 RZZEZMFE—H—H 5,269
New leases s 13,443
Lease modification e (13)
Foreign exchange movement 4N 2 (130)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT (739)
Interest expense FERAX 645
Interest expense classified as DHEARERRREN
operating cash flows FERFZ (645)
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREL (6,797)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ—OF+=—A=+—H 11,033
2023 —B-=F
Lease
liabilities
HERE
HK$'000
FH&T
At 1 January 2023 R-ZEBE_=9—HF—H 9,624
New leases EE 3,088
Lease modification AEEIT (43)
Foreign exchange movement N ) (78)
Interest expense F B 5 576
Interest expense classified as DA AR LIRS T2
operating cash flows FEES (576)
Changes from financing cash flows MEBE TR (7,222)
At 31 December 2023 RZZT_=F+=-A=+—H 5,269
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27. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in

27. ZFEREREBRME (F)

(c) HEMNBRERHARE
FABRLRERTEENEERS

the consolidated statement of cash flows is as ML ABRENT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHBT FHIT
Within operating activities KRB HE N 737 576
Within financing activities R EEENEE A 6,797 7,222
28. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 28. EEIKH

29.

30.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not pledge any
assets (31 December 2023: Nil).

COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any
significant commitments.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

The Group had the following transactions

R-ZE-_WNFE+-_A=1+—H A5H
WEBRBETREE(ZE_=ZF1+=A
=+t—H:E)-

29. &iE

R-ZE-_WF+—_A=+—H  A5H
4 AE{A] 88 ARIE ©

30. FEBAXRS
(a) ZA<5EERAF BB B 5 1T A

with related parties during the year: RS
2024 2023
—E_E —E=4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET T
Acquisition of right-of-use WESFREEE
assets (i) 5,160 1,664
Note: B

(i) The acquisition of right-of-use assets were conducted in
accordance with the terms in the relevant lease agreements.
These are continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group:

Details of the compensation of key management
personnel of the Group, who are the directors, are
disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements.

(0] Wb 2 M A 2 T IR IR AR RE A A a8
TRFRETT ° RIBETRANE14AF -

(b) AEBMEFEEBEASZHH

AEETREEAB(HFRER)Z
FENFE BN SRR M L8 K EE -
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31.

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all financial assets
of the Group including trade and bills receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents were
stated at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all financial
liabilities of the Group including trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
lease liabilities were stated at amortised cost.

The Group’s classification of its financial assets and
liabilities is explained in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, management
has assessed that the fair values of trade and bills
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, trade payables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals and lease liabilities
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's financial controller is responsible for
determining the policies and procedures for the fair
value measurement of financial instruments. At each
reporting date, the financial controller analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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R_ZE_NER_ZT_=Z4%+_A4
=t+—H AEBfEEREE B
B o RUGIEREKRER - s ATEMNR
1B R R AU FIE R € Bl A 2 A
NI & RIR S EBYIIRE AT R -

R_ZE_NER_ZT_=Z%+_A4
=+—H AEBfELREE B
B 5 ENMNHIE - T AR MBS 5RIE K E
AERNeRAEREEA B REHE
PRI B o

AEEHHEREERABD ENREE
N B RAME24

TRMITENAFERAFERBR

RZEZMERZZE_=ZF+=A
=+—H BEELHHERE BH
FEUGRIB R FEUEE - s ATE(TFRIE -
e RhHEMERFENEREE  Re
FESEEY BHEMNZKIE ;T AH
fENFIEREFERN A ENRHE
EBENATEREERARERS  E
ZHRZETAEREHARIE -

AEBZYBREREETER TR
RVPEFEZHRIEF - REHREH
B HeEs e TAEECE
REFEMETAEANTEZH AR -

TREERBEZIRAFENETAER
B R (M IEE SEBIHE) WIE N T
THXSFRBEMTANEHE -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. cRIEREEBEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets
and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and
trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by subsidiaries
in currencies other than the subsidiaries’ functional
currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible
change by 1% in the US$ exchange rate against RMB,

AEEZIECRHIAREREREAS
FEY REFeRMIAZTIEREDR
rEEZEEERES AKEHES
BEMWEMEEIRSRAE WEFHE
WHRERERRERBSEMNRIEA B
BREHZE -

AEBzeMTAMEENTIERRS
SMNERER - EEERRREE S RER o
EXeEMARMEEEZFRARMNEK
R BRABGRR T -

S BE R B

AEEAERZEERER - BRARRIR
BB R BAMBARINEEEUIINZ
BT 2 SHE SR

TEERERHEMEETRERT -
BEHAAEEYUETHEZSRTA
A 2 BB AB R E T A REE

with all other variables held constant, of the Group's REPEBELE 1% HBRE ¢
loss before tax arising from US$ denominated financial
instruments:
2024 2023
—E A —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FATT
If US$ strengthens against RMB ELRARBHE (1,047) (921)
If US$ weakens against RMB ETHARBEE 1,047 921

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

AEEBBTVEREXEHEIE I
PR o
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

As at 31 December 2024

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B SRR M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZF =i+ —-_H=+—H

33. SRIEMEE B ERBUEK(#)

FERR

AEEERERTREETENESH
RTEE - AEENREAREEER
EERRETEE Y EFNARRREE
BRIET - U AEE AR
FOEMH - BARBEEBNEERRY
TEX -

RERERKFERER

TR ERAEENEERRENEE
BxhkEaEERR  FEERN@HE
#F (BRIEE A ER P B AN E TR ERK
RSB NHIERTES)  RRZZE =
EN_E-_=F+"A=1+—HWELH
BESHT - FIZ7IMNBEHRESEESHE
EAREE -

R-ZE-_WE+=-A=+—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 &
GEFR 2HRSEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1RE B2RE FIRE k@i H
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
TEx TEx THEx TEn TEx
Trade and bills receivables* BB RENEE - - - 58,762 58,762
Financial assets included in STABAFE -
prepayments, deposits, and other  EMERFENEREAE
receivables
— Normal** = TER 4,216 - - - 4,216
— Doubtful** — [t ** - - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALZEN
— Not yet past due — WAREH 252,463 - - - 252,463
Total Fas 256,679 - - 58,762 315,441

PEIPORT HOLDINGS LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
B &R R M (48)

31 December 2024 —ZFE—pIF+{—-H=+—H

33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. TRIEAMREEBEZERBER(E)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEREERREERER (FE)
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2023 R-TB-_=%+=-A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A%EH
fEEESE LHRHAEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1ER F2RR FIER BlehE st

HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR

Trade and hills receivables* BoRTAR RS E - - - 71,851 71,851
Financial assets included in STABNTIE  BER

prepayments, deposits, and other it EUFIAR £ BIEE

receivables

— Normal** = [lEf ™ 5,602 - - - 5,602

— Doubtful** — g - - _ - _
Cash and cash equivalents ReRALZEN

— Not yet past due — WARE 243,342 - - - 243342

Total @zt 248,944 = = 71,851 320,795

@ For trade and bills receivables to which the Group applies the simplified © RAEEERGCRETENE S EKIE
approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is REWER  EREEERENE SRS R
disclosed in note 17 to the financial statements. KRMFE1THE -

S The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, BE fHET ATEN IS « e M E A R FIBA &
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they MEETARBHATEENBRZEHEE
are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial # 1= B[R B E 58 FER LA SR A IE 35 00 - Al
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. HEEEEZHEAILETE ] - Bh ¢@EE
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be MIEEEZWAEA []&E] -

“doubtful”.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had E’éi&%,ﬁﬂ}f{ CAREFASETEESET

certain concentrations of credit risk as 12% (2023: % IZ]SEIE’JT%FM&* HAR A

19%) of the Group's trade receivables were due from 12% ZE=F 1 19%) THAEEM

the Group's two largest customers. AREPH#ER -

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's BRAASBREE S EWFIE & EWEE

exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills mE R EERBREE S BIREKE

receivables are disclosed in note 17 to the financial BTSRRI EE17 o

statements.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

33. SRIEMEE B ERBUER(#)

Liquidity risk RENE £ Bk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between AEBEREBEAKEMGADBEE
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of HEMERESHEMRTEZTE 2HN
internally generated cash flows from operations. The T AEBEEHRNEEEZERMRNR
Group regularly reviews its major funding positions AR IR ELVE R 2 4080 B 715 B IR AT 3 Ak A
to ensure that it has adequate financial resources in MBEE -

meeting its financial obligations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

AEBRBRE R RRE HRIERN KD
TREBEIHBERET

2024 —E-WE
On demand
and less
than 1year 1tob years Total
BRERR
PR—F —ZE T st
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
F#ET THET THET
Trade payables B S ERFRIE 14,329 - 14,329
Financial liabilities included st A E fih fE {3018 &
in other payables and EAERANTREE
accruals 3,664 - 3,664
Lease liabilities HEEBE 5,579 6,478 12,057
Total st 23,572 6,478 30,050
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

33. SRIEEE B ERBUK (#)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REES R (&)
2023 —EBC-=F
On demand
and less
than 1 year 1to 5 years Total
RENRR
DR—F —EhF HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT FH&TT
Trade payables B S ER T IE 17,012 - 17,012
Financial liabilities included &t A E fih fE {~F 7038 &
in other payables and EErEANERARE
accruals 4,195 - 4,195
Lease liabilities HERE 4,475 1,131 5,606
Total BET 25,682 1,131 26,813
Capital management EARER

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital
management are to safeguard the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

AEFEAEE TEARR/RELE
ERELLENEI RERRENEARL
FAXHEEBERERBREERA
iz =

AEBREEENRE{REEEEN
RBRESEEEEARBERIELFE -
RERXAHBEARE  AEEHEAR
BN TFERROKE  ARREEER
KBTI - NEEBAETEMRSH
MEMNEARE RNEBEE-_F_NOF
RZZB-_=F+-_RA=+—RHItFE"
EEEAZ B BRIEFLEFD
Ef&s
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34.

35.

36.

166

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after 31 December
2024 and up to the approval date of the financial
statements.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform with the current year’s presentation.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position
of the Company at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

34. MEWESEH
BE-E_NF+_-_A=1+—HEEHK
REREMERHAILHRE TESEAE
o

35. kEEHE

ETHUBRSRCET OB UFEARF
eI

36. A FBMBARREK

A B R & H R A 1 75 K05 2% A
BT

2024 2023
—EC A —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A TR E - =
Right-of-use assets FERAELE 1,193 399
Deferred tax assets B BEE > 3
Total non-current assets ERMBEELEA 1,193 402
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U Bt BB A AR IE 2,973 12,574
Prepayments, deposits and other TANFRIE - e R
receivables H el koA 945 519
Cash and cash equivalents He RIRSEEY 58,988 56,015
Total current assets REAEEE 62,906 69,108
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36.

THE COMPANY (Continued)

R T EAMRE ()

2024 2023
—E_NUE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHEIT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Amount due to subsidiaries FERH B A B IA 12,860 8,754
Other payables and accruals H{th fE TR0 K fERTE A 239 400
Lease liabilities HEBE 544 299
Total current liabilities mENAERE 13,643 9,453
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 49,263 59,655
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERRBERS
LIABILITIES 50,456 60,057
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBEMF
Lease liabilities HEaRE 647 116
Total non-current liabilities EnBaERE 647 116
Net assets BEFE 49,809 59,941
EQUITY e
Share capital A% AR 4,000 4,000
Reserves (note) fb i (P aE) 45,809 55,941
Total equity HEmLRE 49,809 59,941
x The amount is less than HK$1,000. @ 2E LM 1,00087T ©
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (Continued)

37.

168

36. AATFMBARRE (F)

Note: B 7E
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AARIEEBRENT -
Share  Accumulated
premium losses Total
B3 RE RAEtE#E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
At 31 December 2022 R=F=-_=—F+=-A=+—8H 91,446 (30,044) 61,402
Effect of adoption of amendments to HKAS 12 IRANF S H24ERIE 1257
Az e - (25) 25)
At 1 January 2023 (restated) R-ZZE-_=F—HF—R8((K=&%) 91,446 (30,069) 61,377
Final 2022 dividend paid BB ERERE (5,400) - (5,400)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRNEMEEBERE - (36) (36)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 R-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—8
E=Z-_mWF—HA—H 86,046 (30,105) 55,941
Special 2023 dividend paid BT =F5RIRE (5,400) - (5,400)
Final 2023 dividend paid BN Z=FREARES (5,400) - (5,400)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEEEERE = 668 668
At 31 December 2024 R=F-—WF+=A=+—H 75,246 (29,437) 45,809
APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL A B R 3k

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2025.
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